

# EXPLORING THE DIGITAL LANDSCAPE IN MALAYSIA Access and use of digital technologies by children and adolescents











© United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) Malaysia, November 2014

This desk review was produced by UNICEF Voices of Youth and the Communication Section of UNICEF Malaysia. It was initiated in 2013 and authored by Katarzyna Pawelczyk (NYHQ) and Professor Kuldip Kaur Karam Singh (Malaysia), and supported by Indra Nadchatram (UNICEF Malaysia).

The publication was designed by Salt Media Group Sdn Bhd and printed by Halus Sutera Sdn Bhd.

Permission is required to reproduce any part of this publication. Permission will be freely granted to educational or non-profit organisations. To request permission and for other information on the publication, please contact: UNICEF Malaysia Wisma UN, Block C, Level 2 Kompleks Pejabat Damansara Jalan Dungun, Damansara Heights 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Tel: (6.03) 2095 9154 Email: kualalumpur@unicef.org

All reasonable precautions have been taken by UNICEF to verify the information contained in this publication as of date of release.

ISBN 978-967-12284-4-9

#### www.unicef.my



# Foreword



As Malaysia moves towards its goal of becoming a developed nation by the year 2020, an increasing number of Malaysians have adopted the online or digital lifestyle and have joined other digital citizens of the world. The success of the Malaysian National Broadband Initiatives has seen the broadband household penetration rate reach new highs at 67.3 per cent as at the end of 1st Quarter 2014.

Whilst Malaysians are enjoying the benefits from online services everywhere across the country, the Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission (MCMC) is cognizant of the increasing need to safeguard them, especially children who are the most vulnerable, from threats and risks related to the Internet. Based on the Internet Users Survey 2012 conducted by MCMC, 37.9 per cent of the users in Malaysia are under 24 years old and the number of young children exposed to digital devices is also rising. As such there is a need to ensure these young children are taught to be safe, secure and responsible online users so that their experiences online are positive ones; and with this mind, the Klik Dengan Bijak™ (KDB)

or Click Wisely programme was launched in 2012. This programme incorporates the values enshrined in the Rukun Negara, and is also aligned with Malaysian values, ethics and morals, as well as the National Policy Objectives of the Communications and Multimedia Act 1998.

MCMC's approach in developing national policies and initiatives has always been substantiated by strong evidence-based studies. In this regard, in addition to its own survey on household Internet users, MCMC also collaborates with local institutions of higher learning through the Networked Media Research Collaboration Programme (NMRCP). The NMRCP is now in its sixth year and has conducted a number of studies on the social impact of Internet usage on individuals and the community in both quantitative and qualitative ways.

The desk review conducted by UNICEF and any subsequent studies from it could lead to better information and understanding of Internet access and use by the Malaysian public. We believe the desk review is a useful reference to prior studies that have been done on the state of children's online experience in Malaysia and will provide valuable insights into new research areas to be considered by all parties interested in advancing the digital citizenship project.

It is hoped that the data from the studies can be utilized to promote an informed civil society where online services will provide the basis of continuing enhancements to quality of work and life, especially for young people. Therefore, we encourage more parties to contribute to the knowledge on Malaysian youth digital experiences so that we can continuously enhance our efforts to keep our children safe from online abuses and threats.

Mohamed Sharil Tarmizi Chairman Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission

### Foreword



The children of the 21st century, often referred to as Generation Z, are those born after 1995, born into the digital age – a transformational generation living in a transformative time.

They are a huge group – 2 billion children worldwide. As members of Generation Z, they are described as digital natives, screenagers, wired from the crib; who don't just represent the future but are already actively involved in shaping and creating it.

Twenty-five years ago, when the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) first came into force, many of the platforms and much of the digital technology that children readily use today didn't exist. As we commemorate 25 years of the CRC and, coincidentally the 25th anniversary of the World Wide Web, we live in a world transformed by the technology, tools, applications, platforms and channels available for those who have access to them, including children - especially children.

The technology of the digital age has changed how we communicate, how we see and interact with a world now at our fingertips, changing our social norms. The children of Generation Z are growing up in a world where global social media, crowdsourcing, open platform-education and sharing, are giving them a chance for unprecedented engagement and civic influence, as agents of change in a changing world.

The CRC has always ensured a child's right to information and to participation. Authentic participation is the kind that empowers and engages children, the kind that acknowledges they are the best, most eloquent, spokespeople and interpreters of their world and of their experiences.

While there are huge numbers of children online, with a household Internet access rate of over 60 per cent (2011) in Malaysia, many airls and boys still do not have access to the creative, informative, interactive and participatory features of the digital environment. The digital divide affects the most vulnerable - whether by virtue of geography, economy, gender or disability. So our work is twofold – getting more children engaged online and ensuring they participate in their digital freedom in a safe and responsible manner.

This desk review was carried out under the Voices of Youth Citizens initiative by UNICEF to empower children and adolescents to use digital technologies for the realisation of their rights as enshrined in the CRC.

The report provides information to enable all stakeholders to further build on the leadership Malaysia has already shown to create a safe and enabling Internet environment for children, and identifies knowledge gaps in the media practices and online safety of children and youth. The Review also recommends opportunities to leverage and strengthen existing initiatives to promote and deliver Digital Literacy for all children, adolescents and youth in the country.

Together with our partner, the Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, as well as stakeholders in government, the private sector, NGOs and children themselves, we hope to encourage and empower children and youth in Malaysia to use ICT safely, responsibly, in a pro-social way to create positive change for themselves, their peers and their communities.

#### Let's *Klik Dengan Bijak!*

**Wivina Belmonte** UNICEF Representative to Malaysia

# **Acknowledgements**

The authors of this report would like to express their gratitude to all the organisations and individuals for sharing with us their technical expertise and insights, and for providing additional sources and information.

Our gratitude is extended to the following:

- The Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission (MCMC), with special thanks to Outreach and Engagement Division, for providing access to, and insights on MCMC-commissioned research on youth and the internet;
- DiGiTelecommunications, with special thanks to Philip Ling Oon Hun, for insights on the role of Industry-Government Smart Partnerships and DiGi's role in the CyberSAFE programme;
- Star Publications (Malaysia) Berhad, with special thanks to lan Yee, for inputs on R.AGE and for information on published stories related to cyberbullying as well as youth advocacy through #RAGEchat; and
- UNICEF staff for their review and technical insights.



And also to the Berkman Centre for Internet and Society at Harvard University, with special thanks to Professor Urs Gasser, Executive Director, and Sandra Cortesi, Director of the Youth & Media Project, for their technical review and feedback on the report.

A special note of gratitude also to the following children for allowing us to share their views on digital media in this report:

- Cathryn Anila, 13
- Haziqah, 14
- Kher Nawawi Amin Bin Noranizam, 17
- Mohammad Hanafi Bin Yabiran, 16
- Muhammad Akif Rabbani bin Ab Rashid, 17
- Muhammad Khairul Nizam Bin Haris, 17
- Chooi Weng Hui, 14

# CONTENTS

Child Rights in a Digital Age	11
Background, Objectives, Methodology	12
Situation of Children and Youth in Malaysia	16
Country Profile	17
Meeting the Millennium Development Goals	18
Realising rights for children	20
Youth in Malaysia	24
Online and Digital Context	26
Overview of the online and digital context	27
Legal framework and policies relating to ICTs in	
Malaysia	30
Digital growth and access in Malaysia	32
The digital divide	36
Use of Information and Communication Technologies	
(ICTs) by Adolescents and Youth	40
Access and usage of digital technology among	
children and young people	41
Keeping safe online	44
Observations	54
Endnotes	56
	Child Rights in a Digital Age Background, Objectives, Methodology Situation of Children and Youth in Malaysia Country Profile Meeting the Millennium Development Goals Realising rights for children Youth in Malaysia Online and Digital Context Overview of the online and digital context Legal framework and policies relating to ICTs in Malaysia Digital growth and access in Malaysia The digital divide Use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs) by Adolescents and Youth Access and usage of digital technology among children and young people Keeping safe online Observations Endnotes



# ACRONYMS

ASEAN	Association of Southeast Asian Nations
CBC	Community Broadband Centres
CIE	Computers-in-Education
СМА	Communications and Multimedia Act 1998
CNII	Critical National Information Infrastructure
CRC	Convention on the Rights of the Child
DSA	Digital Signature Act 1997
EPF	Employees Provident Fund
ІСТ	Information, Communication Technology
ICTL	Information and Communication Technology Literacy
ILO	International Labour Organization
ΙΤυ	International Telecommunications Union
LGBTIQ	Lesbian/Gay/Bisexual/Transgender/Intersexed/Questioning
MAMPU	Modernisation and Management Planning Unit
МСМС	Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MSC	Multimedia Super Corridor
MYC	Malaysian Youth Council
NCSP	National Cyber Security Policy
NITA	National Information Technology Agenda
NITC	National Information Technology Council
OIC	Organisation of Islamic Cooperation
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
USP	Universal Service Provision
YDI	Commonwealth Youth Development Index



# **CHILD RIGHTS IN A DIGITAL AGE**

Worldwide, children's digital activities and opportunities are growing at an exponential rate. Yet many of the creative, informative, interactive and participatory features of the digital environment remain substantially underused, especially among the most marginalised children. Amidst this endless potential, the Internet can also compound offline risks and negative experiences such as bullying, harassment, unwanted sexual solicitation, and exposure to pornography and other potentially harmful materials.<sup>1</sup>

The Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC), adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1989, provides an appropriate starting point for advancing online protection, provisions and participation within the framework of children's rights.

Although formulated in the pre-digital era, the CRC establishes basic standards that apply without discrimination to all children, everywhere. These standards are also relevant to children in the digital age. The most pertinent of these are a child's right to:

- protection against all forms of discrimination (Article 2);
- express views and the right to be heard (Article 12);
- freedom of expression, including the freedom to seek, receive and impart information (Article 13);
- freedom of association and peaceful assembly (Article 15);
- privacy, family, home or correspondence and against unlawful attacks on honour and reputation (Article 16);
- information (Article 17);
- protection from all forms of violence and abuse (Article 19);
- health (Article 24);
- education (Article 28);
- participation in artistic and cultural activities (Article 31);
- protection from all forms of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse (Article 34);
- protection from sale, trafficking or abduction (Article 35).

# BACKGROUND, OBJECTIVES, METHODOLOGY

#### **Objectives and background**

Since achieving independence in 1957, Malaysia has undergone rapid economic and social development, particularly in the past three decades. The Malaysian Government has made great strides in digital development and inclusion in its quest to achieve developednation status by 2020.<sup>2</sup> The Government's launch of the National Information Technology Agenda (NITA) in 1996 paved the way for the rapid expansion of the ICT industry in Malaysia. The 2014 national budget<sup>3</sup> allocation for the information technology industry is RM4.9 billion (US\$1.5 billion) and represents 10 per cent of the total amount allocated for Development Expenditure under the 2014 budget.4

In 2012, Malaysia ranked in 59th place on the ICT Development Index of the International Telecommunications Union (ITU), and the country has registered marked growth in recent years with improved access to computers and the Internet among its citizens.<sup>5</sup> The percentage of households with a computer more than doubled from 31.3 per cent to 64.1 per cent between 2005 and 2011, while the percentage of households with Internet access quadrupled from 15.2 per cent to 61.4 per cent.<sup>6</sup> The Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission (MCMC), a government agency set up in 1998, is tasked with promoting and regulating the industry as well as enforcing ICT-related laws in the country. It is also Malaysia's lead agency for empowerment through digital connectivity and is tasked with growing and nurturing Malaysia's cultural representation online, as well as promoting the development of skilled labour and capital in the ICT industry.<sup>7</sup>

This desk review, led by the Social and Civic Media unit in the Division of Communication, UNICEF Headquarters, in partnership with the UNICEF Malaysia Country Office, aims to understand the use, access and impact of digital technologies and social media on adolescents and young people in Malaysia. It is part of a series, undertaken and issued by UNICEF Headquarters in partnerships with Country Offices, that examines the role of technology in the lives of adolescents and young people living in middle-income and developing nations; and is part of a wider programme of work examining issues of digital citizenship and safety through UNICEF's Voices of Youth Citizens project.

(It is) impossible to imagine a world without digital media! It would be like the Stone Age, writing on the walls and hunting animals. Chooi Weng Hui, 14 In recent years, growing digital access globally has meant that the amount of research available for topics like digital adoption, cyberbullying, the pros and cons of social media, bridging digital divides, and the growth of digital literacy—and their impact on children—has led to richer datasets and qualitative analyses, particularly in the United States, Canada and Europe. The same, however, is not available in many countries belonging to what is termed as the 'global South'.

While country-level data is available on penetration, popularity of certain digital platforms and trends, this data is often not disaggregated. Additionally, there is limited research available with regard to younger children, the motivations behind the use of technology among children and youth, and their specific online behaviour-including how they deal with online risk. The challenges related to research on children and the impact of digital tools on their lives is explored in more detail in a report commissioned by UNICEF's Office of Research-Innocenti, co-authored by Professor Sonia Livingstone and Dr Monica Bulger, entitled: A Global Agenda for Children's Rights in the Digital Age: Recommendations for developing UNICEF's research strategy.8

For UNICEF Malaysia, participation in the Voices of Youth Citizens project is timely, given Malaysia's growing Internet penetration rates and concerns regarding child online safety; as well as the increase in Government and corporate investment in ICT. As UNICEF and other organisations increasingly use ICT in their communication and advocacy work with adolescents and young people; and as access to digital tools continues to grow, UNICEF Malaysia seeks to understand how best to empower adolescents and youth to use ICT safely and responsibly in a pro-social way.

One approach that has been identified has been to build the digital skills, and media and information literacy of young Malaysians through the education system via an approach underpinned by the concept of digital citizenship, and a balance between delivering a safe online environment and one that does not become so restrictive that it diminishes the obvious benefits. Fostering digital citizenship means giving young people the information and skills they need to use the technology responsibly, taking advantage of opportunities, managing their own safety and the safety of others, and being able to deal with any risks that occur. It seeks to build a culture of responsibility online, and teaches adolescents the ability to judge, navigate and create a range of media content and services while operating a system of selection, control and protection.

For UNICEF Malaysia, this desk review seeks to:

- provide an overview of the digital landscape in the country with a particular focus on children and young people; and with the objective of identifying what is known about the access to, and opportunities and risks of, digital usage in Malaysia;
- establish the gaps in knowledge to inform a research agenda; and
- inform the action plans of the Malaysia Country Office in this field of work for 2015 and beyond.



Fostering digital citizenship means giving young people the information and skills they need to use the technology responsibly, taking advantage of opportunities, managing their own safety and the safety of others, and being able to deal with any risks that occur. It seeks to build a culture of responsibility online, and teaches adolescents the ability to judge, navigate and create a range of media content and services while operating a system of selection, control and protection.

#### Methodology

This desk review represents a compilation of primary and secondary data sources on the ICT landscape in Malaysia, and the attendant opportunities and risks for children, adolescents and young people.

The data was acquired through a rigorous search for background information on the access to, and use of, the Internet in Malaysia, with a specific focus on ICT behaviour and safety risks faced by children and young people. The search was conducted in both English and Malay using the Internet, as well as academic databases.

Sources included academic journals, data collected by the MCMC, the International Telecommunications Union (ITU) and the World Bank; the laws of Malaysia; reports from NGOs; research conducted by ICT companies; web analytics websites; as well as news articles.

#### Limitations

It was beyond the scope of the desk review to conduct further in-depth research on some of the issues discussed in the desk review, to help contextualise them further or to examine whether any changes have taken place since the research was conducted. The authors hope that this desk review will assist other stakeholders in shaping their research priorities relating to children and ICT. While research into children's use of ICT continues to attract more interest as access to the Internet and social media grows, most studies are not nationally representative.

It is important to note that the main sources of data mentioned in the report employed various sampling methodologies, at different points in time, with respondents falling into different age categories and various geographical locations.

#### Notably:

- Young people and New Media—Social uses, Social Shapings and Social consequences: data collected in 2010 involving 1,200 children aged 14–16.
- CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013: data collected in 2013 involving 9,651 primary and secondary school students in Malaysia.

- Captivated by Facebook, MCMC study: based on 1,200 questionnaires distributed to users aged 18–22, and focus group discussions with 92 upper-secondary school and university students.
- 2012 Microsoft WorldWide Online Bullying Survey: data collection between January and February 2012 based on face-toface questionnaires with 300 children in Malaysia aged between eight and 17.

This means that the findings from these different studies are not strictly comparable and where they are used in reference to the same issues, this has been with the intention of examining trends rather than for scientific comparison.

Every effort has been made to identify the most recent data or information available. However, it must be noted that some studies are oneoffs, and more recent data is unavailable. Furthermore, data or research that evaluated the initiatives and programmes mentioned throughout the desk review was, in most cases, unavailable.



# SITUATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH IN MALAYSIA

# **1.1** Country profile

Malaysia is home to a multilingual population of 30 million that includes Malays, Chinese, Indians and more than 200 indigenous ethnic groups—and nearly half of the population is under the age of 24.<sup>9</sup> Eighty per cent of the people live in Peninsular Malaysia while the remaining 20 per cent live in Sabah and Sarawak on the island of Borneo.<sup>10</sup> More than two-thirds of the population live in urban areas.<sup>11</sup> Malaysia is a parliamentary democracy with elected federal and state governments. It is composed of 13 federated states and the three federal territories of Kuala Lumpur, Putrajaya and Labuan.<sup>12</sup>

The country's aspirations for development after its independence in 1957 resulted in a series of economic and social development programmes and policies that catalysed the nation's transformation from an agrarian economy into an upper-middle income economy with a 2012 Gross National Income per capita of US\$9,820.13 After the Asian financial crisis of 1997-1998, Malaysia continued to post solid growth rates averaging 5.5 per cent per year from 2000-2008. By 2013, Malaysia's GDP was US\$312.5 billion. Its economy is highly open (exports comprise 100 per cent of GDP) and it is now a leading exporter of electrical appliances, electronic parts and components, palm oil and natural gas.14

Malaysia is also externally competitive, ranking 12th (out of 135 economies) in the World Bank's 2013 Doing Business Survey.<sup>15</sup> Malaysia is placed 147 out of 180 countries on the 2014 World Press Freedom Index<sup>16</sup> and was ranked 53 out of 175 countries on the Transparency International Corruption Perception Index 2013.<sup>17</sup>

The country is an active member of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN—of which it was a co-founder in 1967), the Organisation of Islamic Cooperation (OIC), the Commonwealth and the Non-Aligned Movement, and it is strongly committed to South-South cooperation in the region and beyond.<sup>18</sup>

# **1.2** Meeting the Millennium Development Goals



The country is on track to meet the targets of most of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), especially those related directly to children. Growth in the country has been accompanied by a dramatic reduction in poverty, from 12.3 per cent in 1984 to 2.3 per cent in 2009; and aggregate social indicators are approaching levels similar to those of fully developed countries. Children's economic standard of living improved dramatically between 1989 and 2007. Child poverty (for children under the age of 15 years) decreased threefold over the past 20 years from 29.3 per cent in 1989 to 9.4 per cent in 2007.<sup>19</sup>

However, recent evidence suggests that although national-level figures indicate that progress is on track, at a disaggregated level, gaps still exist along rural/urban, ethnic and geographic lines.<sup>20</sup> Pockets of poverty exist and income inequality remains high relative to developed countries.<sup>21</sup> In 2010, Malaysia launched the New Economic Model (NEM), which aims for the country to reach highincome status by 2020 while ensuring that growth is also sustainable and inclusive.<sup>22</sup>

Basic health services for children, particularly those living in urban environments, have also improved over the past couple of decades. Child mortality rates are well above global averages: the Infant Mortality Rate (IMR) was seven (the global average in 2012 was 35) and the Under-Five Mortality Rate (U5MR) was nine per 1,000 live births in 2012 (the 2012 global average was 48).<sup>23</sup> Also, more than 90 per cent of the population has access to safe drinking water.<sup>24</sup>

In 2002, Malaysia's Education Act 1996 was amended to make primary education compulsory to partially conform with CRC Article 28(1)(a): "Make primary education compulsory and available free to all."<sup>25</sup> As a result, Malaysia is on target to realise universal primary education with enrolment in primary education at 94.54 per cent in 2012, and with complete gender parity.<sup>26</sup> However, enrolment in lower and upper secondary schools for the same year was lower at 86.18 per cent and 77.96 per cent respectively.<sup>27</sup>

The percentage of Malaysian citizens aged 20 years and over with higher education (i.e. post-secondary, college or university) increased from 16 per cent in 2000 to 21.6 per cent in 2010.<sup>28</sup> The literacy rate among Malaysian citizens aged 10–64 years in 2010 reached 97.3 per cent compared to 93.5 per cent in 2000.<sup>29</sup>



The country is on track to meet the targets of most of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), especially those related directly to children.

# **1.3** Realising rights for children

Children and youth (0–24 years) make up 46 per cent of Malaysia's population of 29.9 million (2013). Of this total, 10.6 million are children below the age of 19. Males make up approximately 52 per cent of the total child and youth population, while 48 per cent are female.<sup>30</sup> The age of majority in Malaysia is 18<sup>31</sup> and the voting age is 21.

In line with its vision to become a fully developed country by 2020, Malaysia has put in place a legal, policy and institutional framework for developing and implementing social policies for children. Malaysia acceded to the Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC) in 1995 and to the CRC Optional Protocol on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography, and the Optional Protocol on the Involvement of Children in Armed Conflict in 2012.

The Government's ratification of the CRC in 1995 contained reservations to 12 Articles on the grounds that these Articles were said to "not conform" to the country's Constitution, national laws and national policies, including Shariah law.<sup>32</sup> Seven of these reservations have since been withdrawn, including reservations to Article 13 (which protects a child's freedom to express his or her views, to obtain information and to make information and ideas known to others) and Article 15 (freedom of assembly and participation). Malaysia currently has five remaining reservations to the CRC, namely: Article 2 on non-discrimination; Article 7 on name and nationality; Article 14 on freedom of thought, conscience and religion; Article 28(1)(a) on free and compulsory education at primary level; and Article 37 on torture and deprivation of liberty.33

Malaysia enacted the Child Act (Act 611) in 2001 to fulfil its obligation under the CRC. The Act forms part of the protective legal environment for children in the country and has introduced several initiatives to safeguard children from violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation. The provisions of the Child Act 2001 are based on the four core principles of the CRC: nondiscrimination; the best interests of the child; the right to life, survival and development; and respect for the views of the child.<sup>34</sup> Other policies that are in place to safeguard children's interests are the National Policy on Children and its Plan of Action (which focus on the thrusts of development relating to children's survival, protection, development and participation as provided for in the CRC), and the National Child Protection Policy and its Plan of Action (which aim to ensure that children are protected from all forms of neglect, abuse, violence, and exploitation).<sup>35</sup>

The Child Protection Policy focuses on aspects of prevention, advocacy, intervention, reporting and giving support services in protecting children. It also provides standard guidelines and procedures in areas related to child protection.<sup>36</sup>

In 2001, the Child Act 2001 established the National Council for the Protection of Children, which advises the Government on child protection issues, as well as a National Advisory and Consultative Council for Children to act as a national focal point for children's wellbeing and development. Act 611 also required the setting up of Child Protection Teams and Child Activity Centres at both state and district levels. Aimed at mobilising community participation in the implementation of preventive and rehabilitative programmes, these initiatives are targeted at children at risk or children vulnerable to all forms of abuse and exploitation.<sup>37</sup>

#### **1.3.1 Challenges and emerging threats**

The Child Rights Coalition Malaysia, in its 2012 Status Report on Children's Rights in Malaysia, identified: discrimination faced by marginalised children; abuse and maltreatment of children; corporal punishment; and lack of monitoring and reporting on children's rights as some of the challenges facing children in the country.<sup>38</sup>

> According to the report, Malaysian children most at risk were: children from indigenous and minority communities; refugee, stateless, street, and migrant children; children living among the rural and urban poor; and LGBTIQ children.

In 2011, the Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development recorded 3,428 child abuse cases involving neglect, physical and sexual abuse.<sup>39</sup> It is recognised that there is a need for holistic reforms of the juvenile justice, and child and family welfare systems in Malaysia to conform with international standards and practices, and to achieve a more coordinated and systematic response to the protection of children. Additionally, against the backdrop of the growing use of ICT, there is concern about children and adolescents being exposed to bullying, harmful content and predators online.<sup>40</sup>

According to the 2012 Global School Based Student Health Survey, 19.1 per cent of students aged 13–17 in Malaysia were overweight while 7.9 per cent were obese. The same survey revealed that among the students who had used drugs, 73 per cent had first done so before the age of 14; while 50.4 per cent of those who had sexual intercourse had first done so before the age of 14.<sup>41</sup>

According to UNAIDS, the estimated HIV prevalence among adults aged 15–49 was 0.4 in 2012, with an estimated 82,000 people of all ages living with HIV in 2012.<sup>42</sup> The percentage of young people (aged 15–24) estimated to be living with HIV in 2012 was less than 0.1 for females and 0.1 for males.<sup>43</sup>



© UNICEF Malaysia

The provisions of the Child Act 2001 are based on the four core principles of the CRC: non-discrimination, the best interests of the child, the right to life, survival and development, and respect for the views of the child.<sup>34</sup>



# **1.4** Youth in Malaysia

In 1997, Malaysia introduced a National Youth Development Policy "to establish a holistic and harmonious Malaysian youth force imbued with strong spiritual and moral values, who are responsible, independent and patriotic thus serving as a stimulus to the development and prosperity of the nation in consonance with the vision 2020"<sup>44</sup> While the Policy defined youth as those aged from 15–40, it specified that youth development programmes and activities would be focused on youth aged 18–25.<sup>45</sup> In 2011, the Government announced that the Policy would be reviewed to revise the definition of youth to those aged 18–25 in line with international standards.<sup>46</sup>

The Youth Societies and Youth Development Act 2007 (Act 668) provided for a National Youth Consultative Council to be chaired by the Minister of Youth and Sports, and made up of state representatives, ministries and major national youth societies. The Council is a forum for both the Government and NGOs to meet and discuss issues relating to youth development.47 The Act also lists provisions applicable to registered youth societies as well as the framework for the Malaysian Institute for Research in Youth Development, including its functions, powers, and funding. The Malaysian Youth Council (MYC), a non-governmental organisation formed in 1948, is the sole coordinating body for youth and student organisations. It participates in the National Youth Consultative Council and plays an active role in the implementation and monitoring of the national youth policy.48





# The biggest challenge is that adults don't trust us.

The Government's 10th Malaysia Plan (2011–2015) aims to "better prepare its youth to undertake their roles in contributing towards national development, through instilling the right skills set, values and positive mindset to help them succeed."<sup>49</sup> A Cabinet Committee on Youth Development, chaired by the Deputy Prime Minister, has been established to coordinate and update the delivery system for youth development programmes as well as to streamline the roles and responsibilities of the ministries involved.<sup>50</sup>

In 2009, the unemployment rate for males and females in Malaysia aged 15–19 was 18 per cent and for those aged 20–24, 10.1 per cent.<sup>51</sup> According to 2012 figures from the ILO,<sup>52</sup> the rates decreased for both age categories to 15.5 per cent (15–19 age cohort) and 8.8 per cent (20–24 age cohort). Overall, unemployment in the country decreased from 3.7 per cent to 3.1 per cent from 2009 to 2012.<sup>53</sup>

The Government of Malaysia has introduced a number of initiatives to address youth unemployment, such as the 'Second Chance' initiative (for young people who have dropped out of school) to complete their schooling or to start skills training.<sup>54</sup> Malaysia ranked in 52nd place on the 2013 Commonwealth Youth Development Index (YDI), which assesses the well-being of youth in 170 countries globally. The index is based on 15 indicators in five key areas: health and wellbeing, education, employment, political participation and civic participation.<sup>55</sup>

With a score of one representing the highest possible level of youth development and zero representing virtually no youth development, Malaysia scored 0.7 and fell into the 'medium' category alongside countries such as Italy and Estonia.<sup>56</sup>

The country ranked on the higher end of the scale for education, health and wellbeing, and employment but on the middle to lower end of the scale for civic and political participation.<sup>57</sup> It should be noted that the Commonwealth YDI includes young people between the ages of 15 and 29 years.

© UNICEF Malaysia

# ONLINE AND DIGITAL CONTEXT



# **2.1** Overview of the online and digital context

In 2012, Malaysia ranked in 59th place on the International Telecommunications Union's (ITU) ICT Development Index, and the country has registered marked growth in recent years with improved access to computers and the Internet among its citizens.<sup>58</sup>

According to the World Bank and ITU, the percentage of households with a computer more than doubled from 31.3 per cent in 2005 to 64.1 per cent in 2011 while the percentage of households with access to the Internet quadrupled from 15.2 per cent to 61.4 per cent over the same period.<sup>59</sup> Information pertaining to computer literacy was first collected during the 2010 Census, which found that the literacy rate for Malaysian citizens aged 5–69 years reached more than 45 per cent in every state. The computer literacy rates in urban and rural areas were 68.6 per cent and 42.1 per cent, respectively.<sup>60</sup>

There are numerous national ICT policies, key ICT initiatives, technology roadmaps as well as special funds designed to drive ICT development in Malaysia. Since the early 1990s, the Malaysian Government has placed considerable emphasis on the development of ICT in the country. In 1996, the National Information Technology Agenda (NITA) was launched in Malaysia by the National Information Technology Council (NITC)—a body composed of representatives from public, private and community interest sectors—whose role is to counsel the Government on ICT strategy.<sup>61</sup> NITA serves to guide the strategic use of ICT in the country and to contribute to advancing Vision 2020.<sup>62</sup>

The National Strategic ICT Roadmap in Malaysia provides a framework for growing the productivity of the most important sectors of the economy and to promote the emergence and growth of new industries that are ICT-based and knowledgeintensive.<sup>63</sup> According to the Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation (MOSTI), the National Cyber Security Policy (NCSP)— comprising legislative and regulatory, technology, public-private cooperation, institutional, and international aspects—was designed and implemented to support Malaysia's advancement towards a knowledge-based economy.

The NCSP seeks to address identified risks to the country's Critical National Information Infrastructure (CNII), which comprises the networked information

I was 13 years old when I first accessed the Internet. I was so excited. A whole new world opened up to me. There was all this information out there for me to learn. Kher Nawawi Amin Bin Noranizam, 17 systems of the 10 critical sectors of national defence and security, banking and finance, information and communications, energy, transportation, water, health services, government, emergency services, and food and agriculture. Within the NCSP are eight policy thrusts with various Government bodies responsible for advancing priorities within these thrusts.<sup>64</sup>

#### 2.1.1 Multimedia Super Corridor (MSC) Malaysia

One of the Government's key ICT initiatives is MSC Malaysia, formerly known as the Multimedia Super Corridor, which is an initiative to attract national and international technology companies. 'MSC Malaysia status' is the recognition given by the Malaysian Government to "ICT and ICT-facilitated businesses that develop or use multimedia technologies to produce and enhance their products and services"<sup>65</sup> in four clusters: InfoTech, Creative Multimedia, Shared Services and Outsourcing, and Institutions of Higher Learning.The majority (around three-quarters) of companies with MSC Malaysia status fall into the InfoTech cluster.

At the end of 2012, MSC Malaysia boasted 2,397 active companies, many of which were international technology giants such as Siemens, Motorola, Oracle, IBM, and Reuters.<sup>66</sup> However, 76 per cent of MSC companies were Malaysian-owned. MSC Malaysia companies have recorded year-on-year growth in total sales of 5.7 per cent between 2008 and 2012; and at the end of 2012, total sales were valued at RM33.53 billion (approximately US\$10.3 billion).<sup>67</sup>

The Multimedia Development Corporation (MDeC) is a Government-funded and owned agency which is tasked with overseeing various investment programmes and initiatives related to ICT including MSC Malaysia.<sup>68</sup> Another prominent initiative which falls under MDeC is Digital Malaysia, which seeks to ensure that the country has a fully developed digital economy by 2020.<sup>69</sup>

#### 2.1.2 e-Government

The e-Government initiative in Malaysia began its framework development in the 1980s with the aim of improving internal government operations as well as increasing efficiency between the government and citizens. E-Government was one of eight MSC flagship applications launched in 1997 and was introduced in line with the Vision 2020 plan.<sup>70</sup> Malaysia was ranked in 52nd place on the global e-Government Index and 31st for online service delivery in 2014 in the United Nations E-Government Survey.<sup>71</sup> According to a 2011 McKinsey survey of 311 small-medium enterprises (SMEs), filing of taxes was the most popular e-Government service followed by accessing of information about government, contacting government officials, researching official statistics or reports, and registering for official documents.<sup>72</sup>

#### 2.1.3 e-Commerce

E-Commerce is a growing part of the Malaysian economy and shows increasing potential, as both foreign and local companies expand their online services in Malaysia. Some of the significant developments between 2011 and 2013 include online coupon-giant Groupon entering the Malaysian market, payment portal PayPal opening a global operations centre in Malaysia and the introduction of new regulations in the country to protect online shoppers.<sup>73</sup>

In 2012, 72 per cent of SMEs reported that they were not doing e-Commerce yet while 48 per cent reported they were in the process of planning its implementation, which suggests impressive growth potential.<sup>74</sup> To further encourage e-Commerce, the Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission (MCMC) launched a programme for microindustries to register for broadband accounts and to create websites for their products. Called Get Malaysian Business Online (GMBO), the programme provides a cash grant of RM1,000 (approximately US\$311) until 31 December 2013 to every entrepreneur who was admitted into the programme to help them broaden their commercial scope.<sup>75</sup>



# **2.2** Legal Framework and Policies relating to ICT in Malaysia

Malaysia has a comprehensive legal framework relating to the use of the Internet and digital technology.

This section provides a brief overview of key legislation and policy in the country.

#### 2.2.1 Digital Signature Act 1997

The Digital Signature Act 1997 came into effect in 1998 to provide for and regulate the use of Digital Certificates as a means of performing secure Internet-based commercial transactions.<sup>76</sup> In November 2001, the MCMC took over the role as the Controller of Certification Authorities under the Act and, as such, can exercise and perform the various duties and functions ascribed to that authority.<sup>77</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Copyright (Amendment) Act 1997

The Copyright (Amendment) Act 1997 (in force from 1999) updated the Malaysian Copyright Act to protect individuals' creative and professional expressions of thought. Additionally, it expanded coverage of authorship to include audio, visual and verbal forms of electronically transmitted information.<sup>78</sup>

#### 2.2.3 Computer Crimes Act 1997

Under the Computer Crimes Act 1997, it is an offence to enter or attempt to enter a computer system without authorisation, to damage or modify data in a computer, or to aid in the unauthorised use of a computer system. Activities such as hacking, sending a virus or cracking someone's password are unlawful. However, this Act has come under criticism as several of its provisions lack clarity and are perceived to have multiple interpretations.<sup>79</sup> It was recommended that the authorities clarify the statutory language used in the Act and adopt provisions that would provide a more progressive solution to crimes of this nature.<sup>80</sup>

#### 2.2.4 Telemedicine Act 1997

To manage the quality of healthcare received through the Internet and to keep abreast of developments in electronic medicine, the Telemedicine Act 1997 provides for telemedicine licensing and informed consent so that registered doctors can provide medical services from distant locations using electronic medical data.<sup>81</sup> The Act also prescribes the medical prescription standards to be adhered to, as well as regulations for how telemedicine may be practised in Malaysia.

### 2.2.5 The Communications and Multimedia Act 1998

The Communications and Multimedia Act 1998 provides a mechanism to protect industry interests and regulate communications and multimedia activity in Malaysia. This Act regulates three distinct industries: broadcasting, telecommunications and online activities,82 and provides a framework for the MCMC to act as a single advisory body in advancing its cause for the industry. Among the many objectives of the Act are: to establish Malaysia as a global hub for the industry; to promote information-based services; to encourage the growth of national information resources (and thus to increase cultural representation); to develop a sense of selfregulation among industry players; to build human capital capacity in ICT; and to ensure greater security and reliability of ICT resources. Under the Act, the main functions of the MCMC are licensing, economic regulation, technical regulation, consumer protection and social regulation.83

#### 2.2.6 The Electronic Government Activities Act 2007

The administration of the Electronic Government Activities Act 2007 comes under the purview of the Malaysian Government's Modernisation and Management Planning Unit (MAMPU). The Act provides the legal framework for the planning, implementation and monitoring of all e-Government projects.<sup>84</sup> Digital media has made my life easier... not harder. I use it to search for knowledge and information; and to do my homework. I also use it to listen to music, watch videos, relax and for social networking.

Under the Act, all electronic messages between citizens and the government are recognised to fulfil legal requirements.<sup>85</sup> The Act also authorises a variety of e-business transactions by the public through the portal *www.malaysia. gov.my*, such as submitting income tax returns and paying bills, as well as applying for national registration cards, immigration documents and university admission. However, the Act has been criticised for being redundant as there are sufficient laws to deal with electronic communications in the country.<sup>86</sup>

#### 2.2.7 Evidence (Amendment) (No 2) Act 2012

The Evidence (Amendment) (No 2) Act 2012 updates the Evidence Act 1950 to include the Internet. Section 114A of the amendment identifies persons accountable for illicit (i.e. defamatory, seditious, or libellous) content published on the Internet. The Section states that "a person whose name, photograph,



or pseudonym appears on any publication depicting himself as the owner, host, administrator, editor, or sub-editor, or who in any manner facilitates to publish or republish the publication is presumed to have published or republished the contents of the publication, unless the contrary is proved."<sup>87</sup>

The extension to the Evidence Act has broad implications for any material published on the Internet. The Act reduces the power of the individual to use the Internet by curbing dissemination of information. Individuals and organisations are held accountable for any information such as third-party opinions or feedback that is disseminated through their blogs or websites. It thus does not protect the interests of bloggers and tweeters against imposters. Upon implementation in 2012, the Act came under severe public criticism and served as the focus of the 2012 Internet Blackout Day in Malaysia.<sup>88</sup>

Although the Government provides resources for Internet access, there are several limits to this provision. Noteworthy is the lack of a comprehensive data protection law that covers the right to privacy as far as personal information is concerned.<sup>89</sup> The Government keeps detailed records of each of its citizens, such demographic data with the National Registration Department as well as employment and financial data with the Inland Revenue Board. This is despite Malaysia being a signatory to the United Nations Declaration of Human Rights, which makes provisions for the right to privacy.<sup>90</sup>

# **2.3** Digital growth and access in Malaysia

#### 2.3.1 Computer and Internet use

MCMC data from 2012 show that, overall, 46.3 per cent of households in Malaysia have access to a laptop, 21 per cent have access to a personal computer and 15.3 per cent have access to a tablet. Tablet access is the highest in the Federal Territories of Putrajaya and Kuala Lumpur and in the state of Selangor. While laptop access is the highest of the three devices even in states with the lowest access levels, it is also the device registering the greatest variation in access (72.4 per cent household access in Putrajaya compared to 29.4 per cent in Kelantan).<sup>91</sup>

Fixed (wired) broadband subscriptions in Malaysia increased from 19,302 in 2002 to 2,443,100 in 2013.<sup>92</sup> The overall broadband penetration per 100 households for Q1 2014 was 67.3 per cent but there are significant differences among states: for example, Kuala Lumpur reached 115.7 per cent penetration while Kelantan reached only 41.2 per cent.<sup>93</sup> While an 8.4 fixed (wired) broadband penetration per 100 inhabitants (based on 2012 figures) places Malaysia above many other ASEAN countries, this figure is lower than many of the country's 10 biggest trading partners.<sup>94</sup>

There are more than 31,121 hotspot locations in the country, enabling easy public access to the Internet from personal devices including mobiles and tablets.<sup>95</sup>

The latest available demographic data from the MCMC with regard to Internet use is based on 2012 figures and covers only users from private households. The data indicate that there are more male Internet users than female (56.4 per cent and 43.6 per cent respectively) and that 20–24-year-olds make up the biggest proportion of Internet users in Malaysia (at 21.4 per cent), followed by the 25–29 age group, the 15–19 age group and the 30–34 age group.<sup>96</sup> According to global technology company ComScore, the average duration of Internet use by the

under-35 age group was higher than that of the over-35, but by a much smaller margin than other countries in the region such as Vietnam or Thailand.<sup>97</sup>

According to web analytics provider Alexa.com, the most popular websites in Malaysia in 2013 were: Google.com, Facebook, YouTube, Blogspot, Google.com.my, Yahoo.com, Wikipedia.org, maybank2u.com.my, blogger.com and mudah.my.<sup>98</sup>

### 2.3.2 Cellular phones, smartphones and mobile Internet

Following a similar pattern to that of many countries around the world, cellular telephone subscriptions have grown each year over the past 10 years in Malaysia while fixed-line telephone subscriptions have decreased.<sup>99</sup> Similarly, the number of public payphones decreased between 2012 and 2013. According to MCMC data for Q1 2014, the cellular penetration rate per 100 inhabitants was 143.7.<sup>100</sup> Prepaid subscriptions far outweighed post-paid subscriptions by approximately 35.2 million against 7.8 million.<sup>101</sup> The country's main telecommunications service providers are Telekom Malaysia, Celcom, Maxis, DiGi, and UMobile.

Based on 2012 data, cellular penetration per 100 inhabitants was over 100 in all but the state of Sabah and the Federal Territory of Putrajaya.<sup>102</sup> There are significantly higher percentages of cellular telephone users in urban areas (68.8 per cent against 31.2 per cent rural) but between 2007 and 2012, the gap between cellular telephone users in urban and rural areas decreased slightly.<sup>103</sup> According to the MCMC's Handphone User Survey 2012, the share of cellular telephones per state largely mirrored the distribution of people per state with the exception of the states of Selangor, Sabah, Sarawak and the Federal Territory of Kuala Lumpur.<sup>104</sup> The Handphone User Survey 2012 also explored some of the habits and knowledge levels of cellular phone users, finding that:

- young people were more likely to be users of cellular telephones and smartphones—the age cohort of 15 to 24 made up 28.7 per cent of all cellular telephone users but only 19.7 per cent of the total population of the country;<sup>105</sup>
- nearly 30 per cent of users had two handsets;
- around three-quarters of users left their phones on all the time, even when they were asleep; and
- around 40 per cent of users were not aware at all of the terms and conditions of their cellular service providers.<sup>106</sup>

The MCMC's Handphone User Survey 2012 revealed that smartphones had gained massive ground in Malaysia in recent years: 12 per cent in 2011 to 26 per cent in 2012.<sup>107</sup> Research collected by Google as part of the Our Mobile Planet initiative in Malaysia showed similar trends to those noted in the MCMC survey. According to Google, smartphone penetration grew from nine per cent in 2011 to 35 per cent in 2013 (the survey did not provide penetration data for 2012) and was highest among the 18–24 and 25–34 age groups.<sup>108</sup>

According to a report by market research company GfK, during the first three quarters of 2013, the value of smartphone sales in Malaysia was RM7.4 million (US\$2.3 million)—which amounts to about 6.4 million smartphone devices purchased.<sup>109</sup> The most popular smartphone operating system in the country is Android, accounting for 83 per cent of smartphones sold. Apple's iPhones are less popular in the region given their higher prices.<sup>110</sup> 'Phablets' — mobile phones with large screens — are also gaining in popularity: the proportion of phablets among total mobile phone sales increased from 7.5 per cent in September 2013 to 20 per cent in October 2013.<sup>111</sup> Tablets also continued to gain in popularity among Malaysians in 2013, with sales valued at over US\$352 million that vear.<sup>112</sup>

Data from Google shows that, while smartphone penetration does not differ by much on average between males and females, there are significant differences within certain age groups. For example, within the 35–44 age group, the penetration rate is higher among males, while within the 45–54 age group, it is significantly higher among females.<sup>113</sup> However, according to data gathered by the MCMC, among the sample, 15.5 per cent of males surveyed reported smartphone use, compared to 10.6 per cent of females.<sup>114</sup>

The Google study also looked at the behaviour and habits of smartphone users, noting that in 2013, among smartphone users aged 18–55 and over, 86 per cent browsed the Internet, 78.8 per cent accessed a social network, 63.7 per cent read news on newspaper or magazine portals, and 74.4 per cent played games. Smartphones are also highly valued by their owners: in the study, 41 per cent of smartphone users said that they would rather give up their TV than their smartphone, and 62 per cent do not leave home without their smartphone.<sup>115</sup>

Mobile Internet is also driving media consumption in Malaysia: mobile Internet users in the country spend more minutes per day consuming digital media than other Internet users, spending some 558 minutes per day consuming traditional, mobile voice and digital media.<sup>116</sup>

#### 2.3.3 Social Media use

Following a regional trend, social networking makes up approximately one-third of PC 'screen time' in Malaysia and almost 92 per cent of web users in the country visit a social networking site.<sup>117</sup> Malaysia also ranks in the top 15 countries with the highest Facebook penetration at 82.3 per cent, behind the Philippines (92 per cent) and Thailand (89 per cent) in the region.<sup>118</sup> Facebook is the most popular social networking platform in Malaysia, reaching around 82 per cent of Internet users.<sup>119</sup> The largest age group using Facebook in Malaysia is the 18–24 age group, followed by users aged 25–34.<sup>120</sup> Children and young people (aged 13-24) make up nearly half of Facebook users in the country. The ratio of male to female users of Facebook is 55:45.121

According to ComScore, following Facebook with much lower penetration rates among Internet users in Malaysia are Twitter (15.9 per cent), LinkedIn (13.9 per cent), TumbIr (5.7 per cent) and Tagged Inc. (5.3 per cent).<sup>122</sup> The country has also seen a significant growth of 23.57 per cent in Twitter use between Q1 and Q2 in 2013.<sup>123</sup> According to website analytics company Alexa, 0.6 per cent of global Twitter users are from Malaysia.<sup>124</sup>

In 2012, Malaysians set a world record for tweeting one million tweets within one hour for the 55th Merdeka celebration in the country.<sup>125</sup> Malaysia's current Prime Minister—Dato' Sri Najib Razak—is one of the country's most popular figures on social media. In July 2014, his Facebook page was ranked in the top 10 with over 2.6 million Facebook page likes<sup>126</sup> and 2.07 million Twitter followers.<sup>127</sup>

### **2.3.4 Other popular social and digital platforms and services**

#### a) Blogs

It is difficult to find statistics which reveal the exact number of users of various blogging platforms in Malaysia. However, according to Alexa.com, Malaysia accounts for 2.9 per cent of global users of Blogspot (a free domain service provider), while Blogspot is one of the top 10 most visited websites in the country. Also making the top 10 is Blogger (a free web publishing service), with Malaysians accounting for 2.7 per cent of its users.<sup>128</sup> Both Blogspot Another popular blogging service in Malaysia's list of top 20 most visited websites is Wordpress, with users from Malaysia constituting one per cent of its ranking has been criticised for being heavily skewed towards websites with a

As Malaysians increasingly engage in virtual communities and online interactions<sup>131</sup>, political leaders have also begun using social media to engage with their constituents.<sup>132</sup> In the run-up to the 2008 General Election, opposition leaders such as Lim Kit Siang developed their own blogs to engage with the general public.<sup>133</sup> Prime Minister Najib Razak has his own website and blog http://www.1malaysia. com.my.<sup>134</sup> Former Prime Minister Tun Dr Mahathir Mohamad, who has over 2.4 million Facebook fans, is also a household name in the Malaysian blogosphere with over 12 million visitors to his blog http:// chedet.cc/ since 2008<sup>135</sup> and more than 35 million hits.<sup>136</sup>

The popularity of blogging in the country has raised concerns about national security, however, prompting legal measures and changes to laws (as described earlier in Section 2.2).

#### **b) Online video popularity**

According to online video technology company Ooyala's Q1 of 2013 Global Video Index, the viewing of long-form videos (i.e. videos that are more than 10 minutes long) accounted for 45 per cent of the total time spent watching online video content in Malaysia in Q1 of 2013.<sup>137</sup> Furthermore, Malaysia, along with Hong Kong, Japan, New Zealand and the Philippines, had the highest levels of engagement in the region based on the average level of completion for videos played.<sup>138</sup> According to website analytics company Alexa, 0.9 per cent of YouTube users come from Malaysia and it is the third most popular website visited by Malaysians after Google and Facebook. While data for 2013 detailing the number of users is not publicly available, data from the 2011 ComScore Video Metrix showed thatYouTube accounted for around two-thirds of all videos viewed online in Malaysia.<sup>139</sup> In 2012, YouTube launched a localised version in Malaysia, optimised for visitors from the country, which can be accessed at youtube.com.my.<sup>140</sup>



#### c) WeChat

Developed by Chinese Internet company Tencent, the popular chat app has gained massive popularity in Malaysia since 2012. In May 2013, the company stated that by March 2013 the app had reached a 70 per cent penetration rate among smartphones users in Malaysia<sup>141</sup> and it was announced that the company would be opening an office in the country.<sup>142</sup>



#### d) Instagram

Although it is difficult to find a precise figure for the number of Instagram users in Malaysia, this photo-focused social network is gaining popularity in the country. According to Alexa.com, Instagram is number 21 on the list of the most visited sites in Malaysia. According to the official Instagramers of Malaysia website page, Instagramers of Malaysia was formed in 2011 and held its first 'instameet' (a meet-up during which Instagram users in that particular community take photos in a group) in 2012. The membership of Instagramers Malaysia has grown from 200 in early 2013 to over 1,000.<sup>143</sup> The number of images tagged #igersmalaysia stood at nearly 489,500 in June 2014.<sup>144</sup> However, hashtags combining the term "igers" (short for instagramers) and a location are not necessarily used exclusively by the official instagramers of that particular location, or even permanent inhabitants.

In April 2013, *The New Straits Times* newspaper in Malaysia published an article profiling some of the most popular Malaysian instagramers including: artist HongYi (@redhongyi) who has just over 108,000 followers; air steward Jimmy Khoo (@jimmykhoo) who has some 14,400 followers; and event party planner Samantha Lee (@leesamantha) who has 383,000 followers.<sup>145</sup> Malaysia's Prime Minister has just over 34,300 followers.<sup>146</sup>

# Linked in

#### e) LinkedIn

According to SocialBakers, there are some 1.5 million LinkedIn users in Malaysia, representing a 9.4 per cent penetration rate among Internet users.



#### f) Waze

Waze is the world's largest community-based traffic and navigation app for iOS, Android and Windows phones. Malaysia has nearly 1.5 million users, making it the biggest Waze community in the Asia-Pacific region and one of the top 15 largest Waze communities out of nearly 200 countries.<sup>147</sup> In November 2013, Waze announced a partnership with Astro Awani, a 24-hour news and information TV station, to provide daily community-based traffic reports that were to start rolling out in early 2014.<sup>148</sup>

# **2.4** The digital divide

The 'digital divide' is a term used to refer to differences between those who have access to digital technology and those who do not. Digital divides can manifest themselves based on geography, gender, socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity. In many countries, geography, in particular, emerges as a predictor of access, with people living in rural areas typically having less access and lower usage levels of digital technologies than those living in urban areas. In addition to issues of physical access and connectivity, divides also manifest themselves in the types of technologies and tools people use to connect—facilitating very different types of user experiences—as well as in levels of digital literacy.149

Available data from Malaysia suggests that in spite of the massive growth in ICT access in recent years, certain parts of the country lag behind others in terms of access and use. Some of the significant differences in access to hardware as well as broadband penetration among states have already been highlighted in this report: Furthermore, based on 2012 data collected by the MCMC, rural households constituted only 24.2 per cent of Internet users<sup>153</sup>, yet the rural population of Malaysia is approximately 30 per cent of the country's total population<sup>154</sup> suggesting lower access levels in rural areas. Interestingly, looking at data collected by the MCMC on cellular telephone penetration by 100 inhabitants, in spite of significant differences among states with the highest and lowest penetration levels, even states with the lowest penetration rates—Putrajaya and Sabah—have penetration of 87 per cent and 87.6 per cent, respectively.<sup>155</sup>

The 2012 survey of Malaysian youth by the Asia Foundation suggests that, among the youth surveyed, there did not appear to be a major digital divide; however, the youth from rural areas rely more on their peers for information.<sup>156</sup> There appears to be little

- While 72.4 per cent of households in Putrajaya have access to laptops, in Kelantan it is only 29.4 per cent.<sup>150</sup>
- While the overall broadband penetration for the country for Q1 of 2014 is 67.3 per cent; Kuala Lumpur registers a 115.7 per cent penetration rate, while Kelantan registers only a 41.2 per cent broadband penetration.<sup>151</sup>
- While in Putrajaya and Kuala Lumpur, 42.3 per cent and 37.4 per cent of households have access to a tablet respectively, in Negeri Sembilan and Kelantan only 6.7 per cent and 4.9 per cent of households do, respectively.<sup>152</sup>



information available on gender differences in access and use of ICT; however, based on 2012 data collected by the MCMC, males comprised 56.4 per cent of Internet users and females 43.6 per cent.<sup>157</sup>

#### 2.4.1 Addressing the digital divide

Governments, NGOs and the private sector all play key roles in helping to reduce the digital divide; for example, by funding projects that provide Internet connectivity or by providing ICT training to isolated regions and populations.

The Government of Malaysia has developed key strategies and created several initiatives to reduce the existence of digital divides in the country.

Some of the measures that have been taken by the Malaysian Government to widen public accessibility to ICT include: a tax rebate of RM400 (approximately US\$124) with the purchase of a family computer, which is allowed once every five years; a loan facility for Government servants to purchase a computer, given once during their tenure of service; and the Employees Provident Fund (EPF) where contributors are eligible to withdraw their contributions to purchase a computer for their children aged 10 years and above.<sup>158</sup> Under the Eighth Malaysia Plan, the Government allocated RM401 million (approximately US\$125 million) for the development of ICT in schools.<sup>159</sup>

The National Broadband Initiative is a national strategy aimed at bringing broadband to the entire country, to encourage the growth of a knowledge-based society and the development of all Internet-based services.<sup>160</sup> To support the attainment of this target, in March 2010, five initiatives were introduced in Malaysia: Rakyat Internet Centres (Pusat Internet Rakyat) and Mini Community Broadband Centres (CBC); the 1 Million Netbook Initiative; E-Kiosks; 'CBC to the Home'; and expansion of cellular coverage.<sup>161</sup>

The Universal Service Provision (USP) programme, operated by the MCMC, has made great strides in bringing Internet access to underprivileged and rural populations in Malaysia. The USP programme's goals are twofold: to provide Internet access as well as educate the target populations in its use. The USP programme targets areas which the MCMC has identified as having Public Switched Telephone Network penetration rates below 20 per cent or anywhere they believe services are insufficiently available.<sup>162</sup>

Within the USP there are several projects such as:

- 1Malaysia Internet Centre—each centre provides IT equipment including Internetenabled computers in rural communities.
- Mini Community Broadband Centre (CBC)—each mini CBC has five computers with broadband access located within offices of the Information Department.
- 1Malaysia Community Broadband Library—equips libraries with broadband Internet and seeks to expand the role that libraries play in the 21st century.
- 1Malaysia Wireless Village provides WiFi in strategic locations in target areas.<sup>163</sup>

The 'Communications & Multimedia Pocketbook of Statistics Q1 2014' produced by the MCMC states that there are 426 1Malaysia Internet Centres in the country, serving just over 398,000 members; 120 Mini Community Broadband Centres; 99 1Malaysia Community Broadband Libraries; and 4,709 1Malaysia Wireless Villages.<sup>164</sup>

#### a) School-based initiatives

To address both the dimensions of physical infrastructure and connectivity, as well as digital literacy and skills, several initiatives and programmes have been implemented in Malaysia since the early 1990s.

Information and Computer Technology has been part of the Malaysian public school curriculum since the 1980s<sup>165</sup>; and the implementation of formal school-based computer literacy programmes by the Government began in 1992.<sup>166</sup> During the first phase, 60 secondary schools were equipped with computers. This pilot programme targeted children aged 13 to 14 through a subject called Computer Literacy (*Mata Pelajaran Literasi Komputer*). It was also the beginning of the Computers-in-Education (CIE) programme for all Malaysian schoolchildren.<sup>167</sup> The programme included a syllabus, teacher development in the subject and allocation of teaching periods in the school timetable. Teachers were afforded some flexibility to adapt the goals and contents of the syllabus commensurate with students' capabilities.<sup>168</sup> A decade later, the CIE programme was expanded to more than 4,000 schools nationwide.

By 2007, the CIE programme evolved into the Information and Communication Technology Literacy (ICTL) programme, which became a compulsory subject in 2007 in all schools that the Government had equipped with a computer lab.<sup>169</sup> This directive was applicable to lower secondary schoolchildren, i.e. those aged 13 to 14, and the objectives were to acquire and apply ICT knowledge in daily life; to share ideas and information from out-of-school contexts; and to demonstrate a responsible and accountable attitude toward the use of ICT and its infrastructure.<sup>170</sup>

With the goal of transforming Malaysian schools into facilitators of technology, the SmartSchool Initiative was conceived as part of the Multimedia Super Corridor (MSC) initiative. Implemented by the Ministry of Education (MOE), the programme was piloted between 1999 and 2002 at 87 schools around the country, at a cost of RM300 million (US\$78 million at the time).<sup>171</sup> The pilot was evaluated by a variety of internal and external entities, and it was determined as being successful in boosting both student and teacher efficiency, improving student self-improvement and self-learning, improving ICT literacy, and making learning more enjoyable, among many other benefits.<sup>172</sup>

However, schools involved in the pilot study also raised concerns about the reliability of software, hardware and the Internet, as well as issues related to availability of electricity.<sup>173</sup> Based on the pilot and subsequent stakeholder workshops, a roadmap was developed to expand the SmartSchool programme to 10,000 schools by 2010.<sup>174</sup> Unfortunately, there does not appear to be much analysis on the impact or progress of the SmartSchool Initiative since the mid-2000s. Even more recent research like 'The Process of Malaysian Smart School Policy Cycle: A Qualitative Analysis' by Ghavifekr and Hussin et al (2011) does not cite any material more recent than 2008.

The SchoolNet Project is another government initiative to provide broadband infrastructure





and Internet access to schools. The project has provided ICT infrastructure to around 10,000 Malaysian schools.<sup>175</sup> In 2008, 88 smart schools began receiving upgrades to their bandwidth as part of the SchoolNet project. Besides providing Internet access, the project has also installed solar panels at schools lacking sufficient electricity.<sup>176</sup>

In 2013, over 90 per cent of all government primary and secondary schools were connected with broadband through the 1BestariNet project<sup>177</sup>—an MOE initiative in partnership with telecommunications company YTL Communications.<sup>178</sup> Schools participating in 1BestariNet are equipped with high-speed 4G Internet access and are connected to a virtual learning platform, Frog Virtual Learning Environment (VLE).<sup>179</sup>

Other state and private initiated projects that have sought to connect schools and communities to the Internet over the years include:

- In 1997, the Penang State Government began the Penang E-learning Community project, which creates a web presence, tools and services. In 2001, the project boasted that 300 participating teachers from 157 schools had been trained in web page development and 100 schools had uploaded their webpages to the E-Learning Website.<sup>180</sup>
- In 2001, the Government introduced a new smart school project called the Electronic Book Project. Thirty-five schools were provided with 2,491 Internet accessible e-books installed with electronic textbooks.<sup>181</sup>
- The Chinese Smart Schools project aimed to develop computer laboratories in more than 100 Chinese primary schools in Malaysia in the hope of boosting ICT literacy of teachers and students.<sup>182</sup>
- In 2004, ViaStat, under a US\$5 million contract, supplied a LinkStar broadband satellite communications network to provide high-speed Internet access to upwards of 1,500 Malaysian schools.<sup>183</sup>

In March 2008, the MoE launched EduWebTV.com. Its eight channels of instructional and non-instructional videos can be accessed for free by students and teachers from rural and urban schools.<sup>184</sup> EduWebTV.com has registered 22 million hits between March 2008, when it was launched, and 2010.<sup>185</sup>

# USE OF INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY (ICT) BY ADOLESCENTS AND YOUTH

# **3.1** ACCESS AND USE OF DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY AMONG CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE

### 3.1.1 Devices, access points and time spent online

According to the International Telecommunication Union's (ITU's) *Measuring the Information Society 2013* report, Malaysia stands out as having the fourth-highest proportion of 'digital natives' in the world, despite ranking much lower globally in information and communication technology development.<sup>186</sup>

The report defines 'digital natives' as youths aged 15 to 24 with at least five years of active Internet use. The study, jointly conducted with the Georgia Institute of Technology, counted 13.4 per cent or more than 3.9 million Malaysians as digital natives, accounting for nearly three-quarters of the country's youths. Neighbouring Singapore was ranked 12th in the study at 12.2 per cent of the population or 643,589 youths, followed by Brunei Darussalam in 13th place with 12.1 per cent or 50,049 people from its total population being digital natives.<sup>187</sup> A collaboration between the Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission (MCMC) and Institutions of Higher Learning in Malaysia in recent years has resulted in research on issues such as Internet and social media use. habits as well as experience of risk among adolescents in Malaysia. One study based on data collected in 2010 and entitled Young people and New Media-Social uses, Social shapings and Social consequences (from here on referred to as the Young People and New Media study), found that 50.5 per cent of the respondents aged 14-16 spent four or more hours a week phoning and texting, social networking and playing new media games using a variety of tools.188

About 17 per cent of them spent more than 12 hours a week on such activities. Respondents who reported sending and receiving over 80 text messages a week were significant: 29.8 per cent received in excess of 80 text messages a week, while 27.8 per cent sent in excess of 80 messages a week. More than a third (35.6 per cent) of respondents spent between one and 12 hours a week in cyber cafes; of these, 2.9 per cent spent 12 hours a week in cyber cafes.<sup>189</sup>

We need to have more education for children. Because today, children are savvy about all things Internet. Muhammad Khairul Nizam Bin Haris, 17 The CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013, conducted with 9,651 primary and secondary school students in Malaysia, also reveals a wealth of information about digital access and use among children and young people in the country.<sup>190</sup> More than half of those surveyed reported that they learnt how to use the Internet from family members (32 per cent from siblings/relatives, 26 per cent from parents). There are multiple locations where students access the Internet but the home is the main location for a majority of them: 75 per cent of respondents stated that the home is the place where they access the Internet most often and only 7 per cent said that they use Internet cafes "most often".<sup>191</sup>

Most students use multiple devices to connect to the Internet, with desktops being the most common device used. On average, only 29 per cent reported using a smartphone and 23 per cent reported using a mobile phone to connect to the Internet, although this was higher among older respondents aged between 16–18 and over 18 years. Almost half of the students spend eight hours or less per week on the Internet; however, nearly 16 per cent of students spend 28 hours or more per week online.<sup>192</sup>

# 3.1.2 The popularity of social media and online gaming

Overall, 68 per cent of participants in the CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013 reported using the Internet for social media and 44 per cent use the Internet to do research for school. Social media use was higher among the older age groups (16–18 and 18+), with more than three-quarters in these age cohorts reporting that they use social media.<sup>193</sup>

#### a) Facebook

Young Malaysians are active users of social media, and children and young people (aged 13–24) make up nearly half of the Facebook users in the country.<sup>194</sup> Given the popularity of Facebook in the country, the MCMC commissioned a study to better understand young people's use and experiences of the social networking platform, based on 1,200 questionnaires distributed to users aged 18–22, and focus group discussions with 92 upper secondary school and university students.<sup>195</sup>

The survey showed that the reason cited by the most respondents as to why young people use Facebook is for communication—with existing friends, new friends, classmates and family members—with the added value that Facebook communication is often cheaper than other modes of communicating.<sup>196</sup> The other motivations for using Facebook included: escapism (31.6 per cent), politics (22.5 per cent), and news and information seeking (14.3 per cent).<sup>197</sup>

The most important thing is...knowing your limits. Cathryn Anila, 13



The MCMC Facebook study also asked specific questions relating to common practices and behaviours on Facebook as well as attitudes to certain occurrences which take place on Facebook. Notably:

38.5 per cent of respondents "sometimes" share photos, videos and links on Facebook, while 16 per cent do so "often" and 12.3 per cent do so "always".

45 per cent agreed or strongly agreed that they feel upset when their contacts misrepresent what they post on Facebook.

67.8 per cent agreed or strongly agreed that sensitive issues in Malaysia cannot be discussed on Facebook. 74.1 per cent agreed or strongly agreed that people should be charged for posting dangerous comments on Facebook.<sup>198</sup>

Interestingly, recent reports in the media indicate that chat applications such as WhatsApp, WeChat, LINE and KakaoTalk are cutting into Facebook's customer base in Malaysia as youths seek new levels of privacy.<sup>199</sup>

#### b) Online gaming

The Young People and New Media<sup>200</sup> study asked a number of questions related to online gaming. It was found that, among the 1,200 study participants (aged 14–16), 80 per cent indicated that they use new media to play games and that time spent playing games increased during the weekends.<sup>201</sup> The study found the most popular games revolved around racing, adventure and fighting, while educational games were less popular. In the more recent CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013, around half the participants (51 per cent) reported playing games online.

Data from global market research firm Lucintel indicates that mobile and online segments are likely to see significant growth in the coming years and "strong economic growth in the emerging markets, such as India, China, Indonesia and Malaysia will result in high disposable income for entertainment. Young population in the emerging markets is likely to increase which will prove to be a sales booster for the gaming software industry."<sup>202</sup>

The influence of online gaming in Malaysia is evident in other ways: the Facebook fan page for the hugely popular game Candy Crush Saga has over 1.2 million fans from Malaysia; and in 2014, a theme park based on the hugely popular Angry Birds game will open in Kuala Lumpur.<sup>203</sup>



# **3.2** Keeping safe online

#### 3.2.1 Exposure to online risk

Access to the Internet and to social media offers children and young people many opportunities for growing existing and new friendships, for exploring their identities, for entertainment, and for education and learning. At the same time, using social media or the Internet more broadly can also expose children and young people to risks, which can have an adverse effect on their emotional and physical well-being. These include a range of risks and crimes such as cyberbullying, grooming, stalking, inappropriate self-exposure, exposure to harmful content, breach of privacy, targeted advertising and gambling, in which children can assume the role of participant, recipient or actor.

Researchers Staksrud and Livingstone, in their article 'Children and Online Risk: Powerless Victims or Resourceful Participants', point out that there are no easy solutions to reducing the potential for harm online and that restricting access, even if it is for the protection of youth, has the detrimental effect of limiting access to the numerous opportunities that the online world offers.<sup>204</sup>

While recent studies in Malaysia have helped to shed light on the experiences of online risk among children and young people, there remain gaps in knowledge and a lack of data, in particular about issues such as online grooming, sexting or exposure to pornographic and other types of potentially harmful content. Available data also does not necessarily provide insight into the level of harm that results from exposure to risk, nor does it delve into the way in which children negotiate risk and develop resilience. The available data does, however, provide a solid basis from which to design a future local research agenda that can help in the design of interventions and other responses.

The CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013 is an important resource for understanding the extent of exposure to online risk among children and young people in Malaysia, their knowledge of online safety as well as the measures they take to protect themselves.<sup>205</sup> While nearly 90 per cent of participants in the study reported that they view learning about Internet safety as important or very important, only 26 per cent reported that they definitely know how to keep safe online. Over 30 per cent say they either do not know or barely know.<sup>206</sup> Nearly one-fifth of children and adolescents who participated in the study expressed concern about not knowing who was on the other end—with more of the younger participants expressing this (26 per cent)—and 17 per cent expressed concern about invasion of privacy.<sup>207</sup>

The CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report 2014<sup>208</sup> report gives deeper insight into some of the findings of the 2013 report, and more information about how children in Malaysia consider issues of online safety. The report reveals that:

- There was little difference among male and female children when it came to the number of 'actions' they took to protect themselves on the internet. The 'actions' included the following: "set my privacy settings"; "scan all my downloaded files"; "not add strangers as friends"; "not reveal my personal information"; "log off everytime when using a public computer", and others.<sup>209</sup>
- Older children were found to take more actions than younger children.<sup>210</sup>
- Overall, it was found that only half of all children felt they were safe while they were on the Internet.<sup>211</sup>
- Concerns about being bullied were raised by 9 per cent of children, in contrast to 25 per cent of children who stated "work not being done on time because [of] spending too much time on the internet" as a concern.<sup>212</sup>
- Children overwhelmingly reported parents, siblings or friends as those who they would turn to for support when feeling unsafe online. Very few said that they would talk to school staff, government organisations or hotlines.<sup>213</sup>

Access to the Internet and to social media offers children and young people many opportunities for growing existing and new friendships, for exploring their identities, for entertainment, and for education and learning. At the same time, using social media or the Internet more broadly can also expose children and young people to risks, which can have an adverse effect on their emotional and physical well-being.



#### a) Cyberbullying and harassment

The massive growth of social networking and online gaming in recent years has been accompanied by concerns about the growth in bullying, harassment and anti-social behaviour among children and young people on the Internet. There are numerous challenges associated with research in this area, including: differences in definition among studies; the terminology used in research instruments; as well as broader questions of the relationship between offline and online bullying.<sup>214</sup>

Malaysia was one of the countries that formed part of the 25-country 2012 Microsoft WorldWide Online Bullying Survey, which reveals additional information about online bullying in the country. In this study, 33 per cent of the surveyed children (aged between eight and 17) reported that they had had negative online experiences such as being called names, being made fun of or being treated in a mean or unfriendly way.<sup>215</sup> This was slightly lower than the country average of 37 per cent, and was significantly lower than the percentage of children who reported that they had experienced offline bullying (69 per cent).<sup>216</sup>

The Microsoft study also found that those who bullied other children online were twice as likely to be bullied themselves, and they were also more likely to be bullied if they spent in excess of 10 hours a week on the Internet.<sup>217</sup> In examining gender differences, the Microsoft study found that in Malaysia, girls and boys were equally likely to be bullied online and offline. This is in contrast to the study's country average, where girls were more likely to be victims of bullying. Although girls and boys emerged as having the same level of knowledge about online bullying, girls were more worried about it than boys.<sup>218</sup> In the CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013, one-quarter of the students said that they had been bullied online at some point. Half of them said they had never been bullied and others were unsure. When the same question was posed with reference to their current experience, the majority-69 per cent-stated that they are not currently being bullied online and 18 per cent were unsure.<sup>219</sup> While many of the participants have not personally experienced it, half of them knew at least one person being bullied online. Common forms of cyberbullying included someone being rude or sending nasty messages, being left out or ignored. Cyberbullying using Facebook and blogs is the most common, followed by SMS.<sup>220</sup>

The CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report 2014 also revealed further important information about the issue of cyberbullying in Malaysia, including:

- There were marked differences in what is perceived as 'cyber-bullying' between children who reported having been bullied online, and those who stated that they had not been bullied. Children who had been bullied classified fewer of the given examples in the survey as examples of bullying, in comparison to children who had not been bullied.<sup>221</sup>
- More male children than female children say they have been bullied at least once: 30 per cent versus 23 per cent.<sup>222</sup>

#### b) Excessive use and addiction

With the rise in access to the Internet, one of the prominent concerns expressed by parents, educators and policymakers around the world has been that of excessive use by children. Given this concern, excessive Internet use by children was one of the issues explored as part of the EU Kids Online study, the findings of which are captured in a paper entitled 'Excessive Internet Use among European Children'.<sup>223</sup>

Based on responses from nearly 20,000 children (aged 11 to 16 years old), the study examined five components, or areas, of excessive use, and their prevalence among children.<sup>224</sup>These five components were: unsuccessfully trying to spend less time on the Internet; decreased time spent with friends or family or on doing homework because of the Internet; surfing the Internet when not really interested; being bothered when unable to be on the Internet; and going without sleep or food because of the Internet.

The EU Kids Online study found that while 29 per cent of all children surveyed had experienced one or more of the five components, only one per cent reported experiencing all five components.<sup>225</sup> The most commonly reported behaviour was surfing the Internet when not really interested, but the authors of the paper state that this does not mean that the children are at risk of more pathological use. The authors also found that vulnerability to excessive Internet use was more likely among children who were older, had emotional problems and who showed high levels of sensation-seeking.<sup>226</sup>

The paper also situates the findings in the context of different theories and arguments around the issue, highlighting that excessive Internet use is more complicated than simply the amount of time spent online; that it is not always clear whether excessive Internet use is the cause of certain problems in a child's life, or whether it is a symptom of other issues; and that there is no consensus among researchers about the degree to which excessive Internet use can be considered an addiction.<sup>227</sup>

While there is no single comprehensive study looking at excessive Internet use in Malaysia based on a similar framework to the one used by the EU Kids Online study, several studies in Malaysia have asked questions of children and young people about the amount of time they spend on the Internet and about the effects of this on other parts of their lives:

- In the Young People and New Media study, less than half of the participants indicated that they spent between four and 12 hours a week on gaming.<sup>228</sup>
- In the CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013, nearly 16 per cent of students reported spending 28 hours or more online; 16 per cent expressed concern about "becoming addicted"; and 23 per cent expressed concern about not getting their work done due to too much time spent on the Internet.<sup>229</sup>
- In the CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report 2014, 20 per cent of children were found to have expressed concern about "becoming addicted", while 25 per cent stated they were concerned about not getting their work done. (These findings are

Everyone is talking to a screen today. I worry. I think teenagers, as a result, are growing up without communication skills. not based on a new data collection, but a new analysis of data collected for the 2013 report).

 The MCMC study on Facebook use found that 33.5 per cent of respondents felt their school or work productivity was "sometimes" affected by their use of Facebook and 21.7 per cent of respondents agreed or strongly agreed that they feel depressed, moody or nervous when they are offline.<sup>230</sup>

### c) Exposure to scams, viruses, spam and malware

In their 2013 report on security threats, Internet security company Sophos listed Malaysia in fifth place in the top 10 riskiest countries for exposure to malware while using a personal computer.<sup>231</sup> While little data is available about the percentage of children in Malaysia who have been victim of online scams, viruses, spam or malware, they are likely to be exposed to these risks given their high rate of Internet use. In the 2010 Young People and New Media<sup>232</sup> study, it was found that respondents rarely refer to cyber security websites for issues on online safety and risks. Respondents expressed little knowledge of phishing scams; malware; stolen passwords or identities; cyberbullying; and privacy features for online games.<sup>233</sup> Furthermore, the study found that few respondents appeared to be able to evaluate the quality, relevance and accuracy of online sources of information.234

## **3.2.2 Responding to online risks for children and young people**

#### a) Young people's responses to risk

In addition to exploring use and exposure to risk, the CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013 also sought to understand who children and young people turn to for support when experiencing negative online experiences. Among the respondents, 65 per cent reported that they would tell their parents if they were being bullied online; 46 per cent would tell their siblings; and 45 per cent would tell their friends. Only six per cent stated that they would not tell anyone. Only about four in 10 survey participants were aware of the Childline 15999 number that they could call for help if they were bullied online.<sup>235</sup>

Passwords are considered an important protective tool for online users, and weak passwords or the sharing of passwords can increase the likelihood of security breaches and potentially lead to negative consequences. In the CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013, only half of the participants said that they do not share their passwords with anyone. Among those that do, the people they share their passwords with are typically parents, other family members and close friends.236 One-third of participants use the same password for multiple accounts, while another third use two or three passwords for all of their accounts. Changing passwords for security reasons is not a common practice-one-third have the same password they have always had, while another third have only changed their password because they forgot their original one.237

#### b) Policies and laws relevant to protection of children online

To date, Malaysia has not introduced specific legislation targeting crimes against children or adolescents as they interact with others through the Internet. However, in 2013, the Government announced plans to develop a policy on child online protection which is expected to be passed by end-2014.

Notwithstanding, there are numerous existing policies and laws which are designed to protect children's rights which, while they may not address the specificities of the online environment, remain applicable and relevant. These include the Child Act 2001 [Act 611], the Criminal Procedure Code 1976, the Domestic Violence Act 1994, the Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2007, and the Printing Presses and Publications Act 1984.

Children know what they want, but do they know what they need?

Laws under the Malaysian Criminal Procedure Code (also referred to as the Penal Code) cover all forms of criminal activity involving children, such as sexual offence, intimidation, ill-treatment, neglect, abandonment, as well as the unlawful possession, custody or control of a child.<sup>238</sup> According to the Criminal Procedure Code, children under the age of 10 are considered not to have criminal capacity while children aged between 10 and 12 cannot be found guilty of an offence if he or she "has not attained sufficient maturity of understanding to judge the nature and consequence of his conduct on that occasion."239 Although there are special provisions for young offenders (age 10–18) under the Criminal Procedure Code,<sup>240</sup> it is noted that, in Malaysia, corporal punishment of children is lawful in all settings.<sup>241</sup> The crime of violence against children within a family is covered by the Domestic Violence Act 1994, which protects children against an instance of "wilful placing of a child in fear of physical injury, causing physical injury, compelling the victim by force or threat to engage in any conduct or act, sexual or otherwise, from which the victim has a right to abstain, and harassment or psychological harm so as to cause ill health."242

The role of the Internet in facilitating child and human trafficking is well documented, and one of the key online risks for children is contact with, and grooming by, traffickers. In 2012, Malaysia acceded to the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the Sale of Children, Child Prostitution and Child Pornography.<sup>243</sup> According to the Laws of Malaysia Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2007, "any person, who traffics in persons being a child, for the purpose of exploitation, commits an offence and shall, on conviction, be punished with imprisonment for a term not less than three years but not exceeding twenty years, and shall also be liable to fine".244

Under the Child Act 2001, a child is defined as being sexually abused if he or she "has taken part, whether as a participant or an observer, in any activity which is sexual in nature for the purposes of (1) any pornographic, obscene or indecent material, photograph, recording, film, videotape or performance; (2) sexual exploitation by any person for that person's or another person's sexual gratification"<sup>245</sup> While the law in Malaysia does not specify Internet pornography, sexual and pornographic material qualifies as prohibited material under the Printing Presses and Publications Act 1984.246

#### **CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report** 2014

In 2014, a second analysis of the CyberSAFE in Schools 2013 Survey data was undertaken, resulting in a follow up report – CyberSAFE in

The survey reveals that:

- More than 90 per cent of children aged 7 to 12 reported that they do not undertake a broad range of actions to protect themselves on the
- levels of online safety. Despite this, 52 per cent of all children say that they feel safe on the Internet. Further, 38 per cent of all children are not aware of the need for multiple steps that can be taken to safeguard themselves on the Internet.
- While more than 80 per cent of those While more than 80 per cent of those surveyed view online safety as important, a large percentage of children do not know how to protect themselves on the Internet. Comparisons between age groups show that children aged 15 or less are more vulnerable to risk than those in the 16–19 age bracket. There is not necessarily a higher level of awareness or protective action taken by children from urban areas as compared to
- not necessarily translate into action: more than levels of online protection.
- Children have genuine concerns about using the Internet, including - "anonymity or unknown identity of people they are interacting with", "school work not being done, becoming addicted," and "invasion of their
- All age groups reported incidences of cyberbullying, with a quarter of all children reporting

The results of the 2014 report are based on inferential analysis using chi-square statistics. It also done based on a larger sample of 13,845 responses from children. Due to time constraints with data analysis, the CyberSAFE in Schools 2013 Survey was based on a sample of 9,651 survey responses. With the additional time permitted, CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report 2014 is based on the complete number of useable respondente. 12,845 out of 15,000 . respondents – 13,845 out of 15,000.

SOURCE: DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report 2014, 2014. The full report can be accessed at: https://digi. cybersafe.my/files/article/CyberSAFE\_Survey\_ Report\_2014.pdf



Additionally, the policies covering overall ICT governance described in Section 2 of this report also apply to children and young people in so far as they are designed to ensure a safer and better experience and use of ICT in the country. Although there are a number of laws providing for the rights of the child in Malaysia, there is a need for appropriate mechanisms for the implementation, monitoring and reporting of child protection in the country, and improved coordination among the various government agencies entrusted with child protection laws and policies.<sup>247</sup> It has been noted that there is an urgent need to address cyberbullying, extortion and child pornography over the Internet.248 Furthermore, although there are a number of school-based ICT programmes, Internet safety is not central to the curricula, demonstrating the need for a concerted effort toward child protection.<sup>249</sup>

#### c) The role of parents

In seeking to understand the use of ICT by children and young people in Malaysia, the CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013 contained several questions related to the role of parents in their children's use of digital tools. Two-thirds of participants reported that their parents impose rules for using the Internet and 40 per cent have parents who have talked to them many times about Internet safety.<sup>250</sup>

"Having rules imposed" was reported more by the younger participants in the survey and the most commonly reported types of rules imposed by parents were: limiting the time spent on the Internet, being careful about what to post, and only using the Internet after completing their homework. However, less than half of the participants could recall the specific rules set by their parents. Slightly less than half of participants have computers located in a common area at home and less than half have computers with parental controls.<sup>251</sup> Similarly, the study on young people's use of new media commissioned by MCMC<sup>252</sup> found that parents and teachers pay little heed to issues of Internet security. The study reported that 71 per cent of teachers and 63 per cent of parents never or rarely talk about violence on new media. Additionally, it was found that most parents exercised little control over their children's use of mobile telephones, nor did they impose stringent conditions for use of the Internet. In return, children did not inform parents or teachers about threats or violence experienced online.<sup>253</sup>

The 2012 Microsoft WorldWide Online Bullying Survey also explored the involvement of parents, and found that only around one-quarter of parents talk to their children about online risk, while slightly less than one-third monitor their children's use of the computer.<sup>254</sup>The study also found that in Malaysia, only 18 per cent of parents teach their children online manners and only 13 per cent ask their children if they have been bullied online. The involvement of parents in Malaysia ranked much lower than global averages in this particular study.<sup>255</sup>

### d) Noteworthy digital citizenship and safety initiatives—public and private

In line with the growing access of ICT by children and young people, Government agencies have introduced several initiatives in partnership with NGOs and private companies to develop digital citizenship and safety awareness among children and young people. These include:



#### Klik Dengan Bijak (Click Wisely)

In 2012, MCMC launched a national campaign called *Klik dengan Bijak* ('Click wisely') aimed at raising public awareness about Internet safety and responsibility.<sup>256</sup> The core message delivered through the campaign is centred on the five national principles of citizenship called *Rukun Negara*.<sup>257</sup> Much of this information is disseminated through print and digital literature, giving details of ethical and responsible online behaviour. The *Klik dengan Bijak* campaign targets schools and rural communities throughout the country, and each year dozens of digital safety awareness programmes are used to reach out to schoolchildren.

The 'Creative Youth League' competition encourages students to demonstrate their creativity using multimedia applications, while the *Klik dengan Bijak* Challenge focuses children's attention on risks associated with Internet use and provides guidelines for ensuring Internet safety. The 'League of Creative Teens 2013' competition was aimed at showcasing local talent in the use of broadband in the context of a united Malaysia. These projects have been augmented by other MCMC initiatives launched through television, and in collaboration with other government agencies and Internet service providers.<sup>258</sup>

Noteworthy is the incorporation of *Klik dengan Bijak* in the Character Building module in Malaysia's National Service training (PLKN) programme. From January 2014, more than 80,000 youths (18-year-olds) will benefit from Internet safety education each year.<sup>259</sup> © Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commissior









# CyberSAFE

#### **CyberSAFE**

In 2009, the Ministry of Education launched the CyberSAFE programme in collaboration with CyberSecurity, an agency of the Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation. The aim of the programme was to raise awareness of secure Internet-related interaction for children and adolescents, as well as to advocate a safe and family-friendly Internet experience for all communities.<sup>260</sup> Subsequently, in 2011 mobile service provider DiGi Telecommunications joined this initiative as part of a wider educational and research effort to assess the effects of Internet access and use among Malaysian schoolchildren.

Since its launch, the programme has reached out to schoolchildren, teachers and administrators through the Ambassador Programme to sensitise individuals on responsible ways of using the Internet and to educate them about online safety. Cyber999 also provides response and management services for security-related incidents, as well as through teacher education workshops and user training for all communities.<sup>261</sup>



#### The Star—R.AGE Against Bullying

The aim of R.AGE is to make news and current affairs accessible to, and interesting for, young people. It uses Malaysia's most widely circulated newspaper The Star as a platform to disseminate information on issues significant to the youth. Information on anti-bullying is shared on several platforms: Facebook, stories in the newspaper, school visits, radio and an online 'drop-a-pin' page which children can use to indicate the geographical location where an incidence of bullying might have taken place. While there is no specific data on cyberbullying, R.AGE continues to engage the public in an ongoing campaign to raise awareness about, and to show the extent of, online and off-line bullying in Malaysia.<sup>262</sup>

# **Observations**

Since 2010, there have been a number of significant research undertakings by public and private organisations in Malaysia which have provided important insights into digital trends and the impact of ICT on children's rights and children's well-being in the country. In spite of this, data that is gathered is often not disaggregated or does not focus specifically on children. Thus there are knowledge gaps in a number of areas, gaps which are important to address if the data is to influence national responses, strategies and programmes by various stakeholders.

# Younger children

A lot of research is focused on adolescents and youth, and not much is known about the use and impact of the Internet among younger children.

Vulnerable and marginalised children

Most of the research examined in this desk review did not look specifically at children from marginalised and vulnerable settings to examine their experiences of ICT. Research from other countries has shown that children who are vulnerable in offline settings are more likely to be exposed to risk— which may result in harm—in the online context. Research from other countries—in particular research that focuses on bullying—has also shown that there are links between offline and online experiences of risk and harm for children, and that it is important not to view the online world as completely separate from the offline one. It is the recommendation of the authors of this desk review that the observations detailed below serve as the basis for discussions, planning and partnership by key stakeholders from the Government, the development community, the non-profit sector and industry. Gaps in research should be prioritised according to the planned results of existing and planned programmes, projects and collaborations.

Specifically, observations pertain to the following:

# **3** Resilience

Studies from other countries show that most children and young people develop their own systems and strategies for dealing with online risk. More information, both quantitative and qualitative, on how Malaysian children and youth approach and deal with online risk will help in designing responses that take these into account and help to strengthen resilience. Responses need to focus on creating an environment where young people can build resilience, acquire appropriate responses to online risks and advance the ability to use ICT in a pro-social way, as advocated by the concept of digital citizenship-rather than on restricting and controlling use or online behaviour. Appropriate responses should build on the resources that children themselves possess, and that are available through their own peer networks.

# **4** Opportunities

There is little available information that looks in-depth at the opportunities of ICT—and specifically social media—for developing skills, knowledge and learning, and engaging young people as active citizens. Furthermore, there is a lack of knowledge about how young people themselves view the opportunities provided by digital media for their development.

# **6** Parents and caregivers

Most available sources consulted for this report regarding parents and caregivers was from the perspective of the children, and not from the parents and caregivers themselves. Little appears to be available about the views of parents and caregivers in Malaysia, the challenges and enabling factors that surround their children's use of digital tools, and the support they are or are not able to provide.

# **5** Other risks, including data privacy

The report A Global Agenda for Children's Rights in the Digital Age: Recommendations for developing UNICEF's research strategy<sup>263</sup> points out that most existing research focuses on familiar or known risks for children, and less on emerging risks. One such area that is gaining more attention is data privacy. As more children and young people use social media and other online services, many of which collect data about users for commercial purposes, research should also consider what the resulting risks are for younger users.

# The impact of existing awareness and educational programmes and initiatives

Little information is available about the effectiveness and impact of past and present initiatives. This is a challenge that extends beyond Malaysia. For many initiatives in other countries, there is also a lack of data that speaks to the efficacy of various projects/approaches beyond their reach. Such knowledge is crucial for informing evidence-based design of programmes and initiatives to build the digital literacy skills of children and young people.

# **ENDNOTES**

- Bulger, M. and Livingstone, S., A Global Agenda for Children's Rights in the Digital Age: Recommendations for developing UNICEF's research strategy. Innocenti Publications: Florence, 2013. Retrieved from: www. unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/lse%20olol%20final3.pdf.
- Vision 2020 outlines the strategies and challenges for Malaysia to achieve developed status by the year 2020. The definition of 'developed' is specific to the plan itself but involves becoming a sustainable high-income nation with a knowledge-based economy.
- 2014 Budget Speech by Prime Minister and Minister of Finance Datuk Seri Najib Tun Razak in Parliament on 25 October 2013.
- 4. Ibid.
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia Pocket Book of Statistics Q1 2014. p36. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf
- International Telecommunication Union, *The Little Data* Book on Information and Communication Technology 2013, ITU and World Bank, p136. Retrieved from: issuu. com/world.bank.publications/docs/9780821398166?e=161 7657/3852706#search
- Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission: History. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov. my/About-Us/History.aspx
- Bulger and Livingstone, S. 2013. A Global Agenda for Children's Rights in the Digital Age: Recommendations for developing UNICEF's research strategy. Innocenti Publications: Florence. Retrieved from: www.unicef-irc. org/publications/pdf/lse%20olol%20final3.pdf.

#### SITUATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH IN MALAYSIA

- 9. UNICEF Malaysia, *Malaysia Country Programme* Document 2011-2015, 2010.
- 10. Department of Statistics Malaysia.
- United Nations Country Team Malaysia, Malaysia The Millennium Development Goals at 2010. Economic Planning Unit and UN Malaysia, 2011.
- 12. Office of the Prime Minister of Malaysia. www.pmo.gov. my/? (accessed 24 June 2014).
- 13. The World Bank, Data–Malaysia. data.worldbank.org/ country/malaysia (accessed 10 June 2014).
- The World Bank. Malaysia–Overview. www.worldbank. org/en/country/malaysia/overview (accessed 10 June 2014).
- 15. Ibid.
- Reporters without Borders. World Press Freedom Index 2014. rsf.org/index2014/en-asia.php (accessed 10 June 2014).
- 17. Transparency International Malaysia. transparency. org.my/what-we-do/indexes/corruption-perceptions-

index/tis-2013-corruption-perceptions-index-cpi-results/ (accessed 10 June 2014).

- 18. UNICEF Malaysia, *Mid-Term Review Situation Analysis* 2013.
- Economic Planning Unit. 2013. Profile of Children in Malaysia–Implementation of Children's Rights with Equity, EPU & UNICEF Malaysia, 2013.
- 20. Ibid.
- The World Bank, Overview-Malaysia. www.worldbank. org/en/country/malaysia/overview (accessed 20 Dec 2013).
- The World Bank, Overview-Malaysia, www.worldbank. org/en/country/malaysia/overview (accessed 24 June 2014).
- UNICEF, The State of the World's Children In Numbers, 2014. Retrieved from: www.unicef.org/sowc2014/ numbers/documents/english/SOWC2014\_In%20 Numbers\_28%20Jan.pdf
- 24. UNICEF, The State of the World's Children—Children with Disabilities, 2013.
- Human Rights Commission Malaysia, Report on the Human Rights Approach to The Millennium Development Goals: Goal 2: Achieve Universal Primary Education, 2005.
- 26. Ministry of Education Malaysia, *Malaysia Educational Statistics 2012.*
- 27. Ibid.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia, Report on Education and Social Characteristics of the Population 2010. Retrieved from: www.statistics.gov.my/portal/images/ stories/files/LatestReleases/population/Summary\_ Findings\_on\_Education\_%20and\_Social\_Characteristics\_ of\_the\_Population\_2010.pdf.
- 29. Ibid.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia, Population Quick Info. Retrieved from: pqi.stats.gov.my/result.php?token=89a34 a1acf7eb8d01cd20e02cf1af563
- Age of Majority Act 1971. Retrieved from: www.agc.gov. my/Akta/Vol.%201/Act%2021.pdf
- Department of Social Welfare Malaysia, Convention on the Rights of the Child. Retrieved from: www.jkm.gov. my/content.php?pagename=konvensyen\_mengenai\_hak\_ kanak-kanak&lang=en
- 33. Ibid.
- UNICEF Malaysia. Child Rights Child Act 2011. www. unicef.org/malaysia/childrights\_child-act-2001.html (accessed 24 June 2014).
- UNICEF Malaysia, The Launch of 'Child Protection System in Malaysia'. Retrieved from: www.unicef. org/malaysia/media\_news14-the\_launch-of\_child\_ protections\_system\_in\_malaysia.html.

- Statement by Malaysian Permanent Mission to the UN at the 67th Session of the UN General Assembly, 18 October 2012.
- Ministry of Women, Family and Community Development and UNICEF Malaysia, Child Protection System in Malaysia: An Analysis of the System for Prevention and Response to Abuse, Violence and Exploitation against Children, 2013. Retrieved from: www.unicef.org/malaysia/Unicef\_Child\_protection\_ Oct\_13\_R7\_(1).pdf.
- Child Rights Coalition Malaysia, Status Report on Children's Rights in Malaysia 2012, p7.
- UNICEF Malaysia. Child Protection Violence against children. www.unicef.org/malaysia/protection.html (accessed 24 June 2014).
- 'INTERNET SAFETY: Engaging the Scouts', New Straits Times, www2.nst.com.my/channels/learning-curve/ internet-safety-engaging-the-scouts-1.609058 (accessed 24 June 2014).
- WHO and CDC, Global School-based Student Health Survey—Malaysia: 2012 Fact Sheet. Retrieved from: www.who.int/chp/gshs/Malaysia\_2012\_GSHS\_FS\_ national.pdf.
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic, 2013. Retrieved from: www.unaids.org/en/media/unaids/contentassets/ documents/epidemiology/2013/gr2013/UNAIDS\_Global\_ Report\_2013\_en.pdf.
- 43. Ibid.
- 44. Ministry of Youth and Sports Malaysia, Dasar Pembangunan Belia Negara (DPBN), National Youth Development Policy 1997. www.kbs.gov.my/index.php/ index.php? (accessed 26 Dec 2013).
- 45. Ibid.
- 'Only those aged 18 to 25 defined as youth', *The Star*, www.thestar.com.my/story.aspx?file=%2f2011%2f11%2f 17%2fnation%2f9918718&sec=nation (accessed 20 Dec 2013).
- Youth Societies and Youth Development Act 2007. Retrieved from: www.kbs.gov.my/dokumen/pekeliling/ akta\_Belia\_bi.pdf.
- 48. Ibid.
- Government of Malaysia, Tenth Malaysia Plan, Chapter 4: Moving towards inclusive socio-economic development. Retrieved from: www.youthpolicy.org/ library/wp-content/uploads/library/2011\_Tenth\_Malaysia\_ Development\_Plan\_Chapter4\_Youth\_Eng.pdf
- 50. Id., *Tenth Malaysia Plan*. Retrieved from: www.pmo.gov. my/dokumenattached/RMK/RMK10\_E.pdf.
- 51. International Labour Organisation, *ILOSTAT Database: Malaysia*. Retrieved from: www.ilo.org/ilostat/
- 52. Figures provided by the ILO are based on the Malaysian Labour Force Survey. Retrieved from http://data. worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL.ZS

- United Nations Country Team Malaysia, Malaysia Millennium Development Goals at 2010, Economic Planning Unit and UN Malaysia, 2011. Retrieved from: www.undp.org.my/files/editor\_files/files/Malaysia%20 MDGs%20report%20clean%200419.pdf.
- 55. The Commonwealth, *Commonwealth Youth Development Index,* 2013, p14.
- 56. Ibid., p9
- Youth Development Index: Interactive Map 2013. Retrieved from: www.youthdevelopmentindex.org/ views/index.php#OVER

#### **ONLINE AND DIGITAL CONTEXT**

- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia Pocket Book of Statistics Q1 2014, p36. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf
- International Telecommunication Union, *The Little Data* Book on Information and Communication Technology 2013, ITU and World Bank, p136. Retrieved from: issuu. com/world.bank.publications/docs/9780821398166?e=161 7657/3852706#search.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia, Report on Education and Social Characteristics of the Population 2010. Retrieved from: www.statistics.gov.my/portal/images/ stories/files/LatestReleases/population/Summary\_ Findings\_on\_Education\_%20and\_Social\_Characteristics\_ of\_the\_Population\_2010.pdf.
- NITA is chaired by the Prime Minister. The Malaysian Institute & Microelectronic System (MIMOS) serves as its secretariat.
- National InformationTechnology Council. nitc.mosti.gov. my/nitc\_beta/index.php/the-national-it-council/about-nitc.
- Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation Malaysia, The National Strategic ICT Roadmap for Malaysia, 2007.
- National InformationTechnology Council website, nitc. mosti.gov.my/
- 65. MSC Malaysia, 'What is MSC Malaysia', www. mscmalaysia.my/what\_is\_msc\_malaysia
- MSC Malaysia, Annual Industry Report 2012. Retrieved from: www.mscmalaysia.my/sites/default/files/ pdf/downloads/MSC%20Malaysia%20Annual%20 Industry%20Report%202012\_compressed.pdf.
- 67. Ibid.
- MSC Malaysia, 'About MDEC', www.mscmalaysia.my/ about\_mdec\_faq
- Digital Malaysia, 'About Digital Malaysia', www. digitalmalaysia.my/about-digital-transformationprogramme/
- Mohsin, A., and Raha, O., 'Implementation Of Electronic Government In Malaysia: The Status And Potential For Better Service To The Public', in Public Sector ICT Management Review. Retrieved from: unpan1.un.org/ intradoc/groups/public/documents/unpan/unpan032410. pdf.

53. Ibid.

- United Nations, United Nations E-Government Survey 2014. Retrieved from: unpan3.un.org/egovkb/Portals/ egovkb/Documents/un/2014-Survey/E-Gov\_Complete\_ Survey-2014.pdf.
- Saleh, S., Malaysian ICT Sectoral Outlook: Trends, Challenges and Prospects. The Experience of a New Participant. WTO ITA Symposium, Geneva, Switzerland, 14-15 May 2012. Retrieved from: www.wto.org/english/ tratop\_e/inftec\_e/symp\_may12\_e/speaker9saleh.pdf.
- E-commerce Milo, 'E-Commerce History and Milestones in Malaysia, 2013', www.ecommercemilo.com/2013/05/ecommerce-history-milestones-malaysia.html (accessed 30 Dec 2013)
- E27, 'The Ultimate guide to e-commerce statistics of Malaysia and SEA', e27.co/2013/08/26/the-ultimate-guideto-e-commerce-statistics-of-malaysia-and-sea/
- 75. Get Malaysian Business Online (GMBO) website, www. getmybusinessonline.com.my
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, 'Digital Signatures', www.skmm.gov.my/Sectors/Digital-Signature/Licensing-Application.aspx
- 77. Ibid.
- MSC Malaysia. Cyberlaws. Retrieved from: www. mscmalaysia.my/sites/default/files/pdf/cyberlaws/ cyberlaws.pdf.
- Beatty, D. L., Malaysia's Computer Crimes Act 1997 Gets Tough on Cybercrime but Fails to Advance the Development of Cyberlaws, Pacific Rim Law & Policy Association, 1998. <a href="http://digital.law.washington.edu/dspace-law/bitstream/handle/1773.1/859/7PacRimLPolyJ351.pdf">http://digital.law.washington.edu/ dspace-law/bitstream/handle/1773.1/859/7PacRimLPol yJ351.pdf</a>?sequence=1 (accessed 28 Nov 2013.
- 80. Ibid.
- Sao, D., Gupta, A., and Gantz, D. A., Disputes Related to Healthcare Across National Boundaries: The Potential for Arbitration, George Washington International Law Review, 2011. Retrieved from: docs.law.gwu.edu/stdg/ gwilr/PDFs/42-3/1-%20Sao%20Gupta%20Gantz.pdf
- Safinaz M. H., 'The Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Act 1998–Its Implications on the Information Technology Industry', in *Information and Communications Technology Law*, 9(1), 2000.
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, An overview of the Malaysian Communications and Multimedia (C & M) Industry, 2012. Retrieved from: www.ubifrance.com/medias/press/mcmc-overviewof-malaysian-communication-and-broadcast-indust ry-24.09.2012\_3\_10\_2012\_19\_24.pdf
- Obi, T., (ed.), The Innovative CIO and E-participation in E-government Initiatives. los Press Inc, 2010.
- Ismail, Noriswadi; Yong Cieh, Edwin Lee (Eds.), Beyond Data Protection: Strategic Case Studies and Practical Guidance. Springer, 2013.
- Abu Bakar M., and Siti Hajar M.Y., 'Electronic Commerce Legal Framework: Some Lessons From Malaysia', 17th Annual Conference on ElectronicTransactions, 19-20 May 2009, The Emirates Centre for Strategic Studies and Research, Abu Dhabi, UAE.

- Evidence Act 1950. Retrieved from: www.agc.gov.my/ Akta/Vol.%202/Act%2056%20-%20Evidence%20Act%20 1950.pdf
- Centre for Independent Journalism. 'Internet Blackout Day on 14 August gaining momentum', cijmalaysia. org/2012/08/14/internet-blackout-day-on-14-augustgaining-momentum (accessed Aug 2012).
- Ismail, Noriswadi, Yong Cieh, Lee (Eds.), Beyond Data Protection: Strategic Case Studies and Practical Guidance, Springer, 2013.
- 90. Ibid.
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014, p13. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf.
- 92. International Telecommunication Union, 'Statistics', www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/stat/default.aspx
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014, p7.Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf
- 94. Ibid., p14.
- 95. Ibid., p10.
- 96. Ibid., p12.
- ComScore, 'South Asia Digital Future in Focus 2013', www.slideshare.net/anhlebksp/comscore-2013-southeast asiadigitalfutureinfocus
- Alexa.com, 'Top sites in Malaysia', www.alexa.com/ topsites/countries/MY, (Accessed Dec 2013).
- International Telecommunication Union, 'Statistics', www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/stat/default.aspx
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf.
- 101. Ibid., p16
- 102. Ibid., p17
- 103. Ibid., p18.
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Handphone User Survey 2012, p13. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/ pdf/130717\_HPUS2012.pdf.
- 105. Ibid., p11
- 106. Ibid., p16
- 107. Ibid., p17.
- Google and IPSOS Media CT, 'Our Mobile Planet— Malaysia Interactive chart', 2013, www.thinkwithgoogle. com/mobileplanet

109. The Next Web, 'Report: Smartphone Sales Surge 61% In Southeast Asia, Android Dominates With 72% Share', thenextweb.com/asia/2013/12/02/report-smartphonesales-surge-61-in-southeast-asia-android-dominateswith-72-share/#lqf2TX (accessed 20 Dec 2013).

110. Ibid.

- 111. GfK, 'Four Screen Markets in Malaysia Totalled USD 3.86 Billion in First Ten Months of 2013', www.gfk.com/ sg/news-and-events/press-room/press-releases/pages/ four-screen-markets-in-malaysia-totaled-usd-3-86-billionin-first-ten-months-of-2013-gfk.aspx (accessed 20 Dec 2013).
- 112. Ibid.
- Google and IPSOS Media CT, 'Our Mobile Planet Malaysia Interactive chart', 2013, www.thinkwithgoogle. com/mobileplanet
- Malaysian Commuication and Multimedia Commission, Handphone User Survey 2012, p18. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/skmmgovmy/media/General/ pdf/130717\_HPUS2012.pdf.
- Google and IPSOS Media CT, Our Mobile Planet Malaysia Interactive Chart, 2013, www.thinkwithgoogle. com/mobileplanet
- 116. Saleh, S., 'Malaysian ICT Sectoral Outlook: Trends, Challenges and Prospects. The Experience of a New Participant', WTO ITA Symposium, Geneva, Switzerland, 14-15 May 2012. Retrieved from: www.wto.org/english/ tratop\_e/inftec\_e/symp\_may12\_e/speaker9saleh.pdf.
- 117. Ibid.
- ComScore, 'South Asia Digital Future in Focus 2013', www.slideshare.net/anhlebksp/comscore-2013-southeast asiadigitalfutureinfocus
- 119. Ibid.
- Social Bakers, 'Malaysia Facebook Statistics 2013', www. socialbakers.com/facebook-statistics/malaysia
- 121. Ibid.
- 122. ComScore, 'South Asia Digital Future in Focus 2013', www.slideshare.net/anhlebksp/comscore-2013-southeast asiadigitalfutureinfocus
- 123. eMarketer, 'Which Social Networks Are Growing the Fastest Worldwide?', www.emarketer.com/ Article/Which-Social-Networks-Growing-Fastest-Worldwide/1009884
- 124. Alexa.com
- 125. 'Malaysians to tweet their way to a world record', New Straits Times, 29 August 2012. Retrieved from www.nst. com.my/top-news/malaysians-to-tweet-their-way-to-aworld-record-1.130776
- 126. Social Bakers, 'Malaysia Facebook Statistics, 2014', www. socialbakers.com/facebook-statistics/malaysia
- 127. Twitter profile for @NajibRazak
- 128. Alexa.com
- 129. Ibid.

- 130. Hassan, S., et al., 'Measuring the Social Influences of Weblogs in the Malaysian Blogosphere', in Media matters: Networked Media Content Research Report, Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission, vol. 1, p9.
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, 'Blogging', in *My Convergence*, 2(1), 2008, pp22-25.
- 132. 'PM: GE13 will be Malaysia's 1st 'social media election', The Star, www.thestar.com.my/News/Nation/2013/02/27/ PM-GE13-will-be-Malaysias-1st-social-media-election. aspx/>, (accessed 24 June 2014).
- 133. Sani, M., Azizuddin M., and Zengeni, KT., 'Democratisation in Malaysia: the impact of social media in the 2008 General Election' in: Morrell, E., and Barr, M. D., (eds). Crises and Opportunities: Proceedings of the 18th Biennial Conference of the ASAA, 2010, Adelaide, Australia, Canberra: Asian Studies Association of Australia (ASAA) Inc and the University of Adelaide.
- 134. 1Malaysia.com, www.1malaysia.com.my/en/ (accessed 24 June 2014).
- 135. Blog for Tun Dr. Mahathir Mohamad, http://chedet.cc/
- Ahmad, A. L., et al., 'Regulating blogs in Malaysia, The Innovation Journal', in *The Public Sector Innovation Journal*, 16(3), 2011, p1-17.
- Ooyala, 'Q1 2013 Global Video Index'. Retrieved from: go.ooyala.com/rs/OOYALA/images/Ooyala-Global-Video-Index-Q1-2013.pdf.
- 138. Ibid.
- 139. ComScore, 'Social Networking Accounts for One Third of AllTime Spent Online in Malaysia', www.comscore.com/ Insights/Press\_Releases/2011/10/ Social\_Networking\_ Accounts\_for\_One\_Third\_of\_All\_Time\_Spent\_Online\_in\_ Malaysia (accessed 18 Dec 2013).
- TechinAsia, 'YouTube Launches Localized Service in Malaysia', www.techinasia.com/youtube-malaysia/ (accessed 18 Dec 2013).
- 141. The Next Web, 'Tencent plans Malaysia office as it eyes further growth for its popular WeChat service', http://thenextweb.com/asia/2013/05/23/tencent-targetsgrowth-for-its-wechat-service-as-it-opens-an-office-inmalaysia/#!qf0Zm (accessed 19 Dec 2013).
- 142. Ibid.
- 143. Instagrammers.com, 'Official Instagramers Malaysia Introduction and Instameets', instagramers.com/ news/official-instagramers-malaysia-introduction-andinstameets/
- Based on a search for the hashtag "#igersmalaysia" on Instagram on 29 June 2014.
- 145. 'Malaysian trio making waves on Instagram', New Straits Times, 2013, www.nst.com.my/nation/general/ malaysian-trio-making-waves-on-instagram-1.254964 (accessed 17 Dec 2013).
- Based on Najib Razak's Instagram profile on 18 December 2013.

Exploring the Digital Landscape in Malaysia

- 147. Astro Awani, 'Astro AWANI and Waze outsmarting traffic together', http://english.astroawani.com/news/show/ astro-awani-and-waze-outsmarting-traffic-together-25785 (accessed 17 Dec 2013).
- 148. Ibid.
- 149. Gasser, U., Palfrey, J., Maclay, C. and Beger, G. 'Digital natives and the three divides to bridge', in *The State of the World's Children 2011*. Retrieved from: http://www. unicef.org/sowc2011/pdfs/Digital-Natives.pdf
- 150. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014, p13. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf.
- 151. Ibid., p7.
- 152. Ibid., p13.
- 153. Ibid., p11.
- 154. UN Data, 'Statistics', data.un.org/Data.aspx?q=malaysia +rural+population&d=POP&f=tableCodeper cent3a1per cent3bcountryCodeper cent3a458
- 155. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014, p17. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf.
- Ming, L., et al., *The Youth Factor: 2012 Survey of* Malaysian Youth Opinion, 2012, The Asia Foundation, p 23.
- 157. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014, p12. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf.
- InTech, www.intechopen.com/books/new-achievementsin-technology-education-and-development/theimplementation-of-ict-integration-in-malaysian-smartschools
- 159. Ibid.
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, 'National Broadband Initiative', www.skmm.gov.my/ Sectors/Broadband/National-Broadband-Initiative.aspx,
- 161. Ibid.
- 162. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, 'Universal Service Provision', www.skmm.gov.my/ Resources/eForm/Universal-Service-Provision.aspx
- 163. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Communications & Multimedia PocketBook of Statistics Q1 2014, p8. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Q1\_2014C-MPocket.pdf
- 164. Ibid., p8.
- 165. Gan, S.-L., 'An Overview of Information Technology and Education in Malaysia', in *Journal of Global Information Management*, 6(1), 1998, pp27-32, www. irma-international.org/viewtitle/51304/ (accessed 30 June 2014).
- 166. Ibid.
- 167. Ibid.

- Ministry of Education. Retrieved from: www.moe. gov.my/cms/upload\_files/circularfile/1992/circularfile\_ file\_000917.pdf.
- Curriculum Development Centre, Ministry of Education,, 'ICT Literacy for Secondary School Guideline', Retrieved from: www.smksgpusu.net/ict/ictl\_guideline\_2007.pdf.
- 170. Ibid.
- 171. Multimedia Development Corporation, 'The Smart School. Roadmap 2005-2020: An Educational Odyssey'. Retrieved from: www.mscmalaysia.my/sites/default/ files/pdf/publications\_references/SMART\_SCHOOL\_ ROADMAP\_020506.pdf.
- 172. MSC Malaysia, Impact Assessment Studies on the Smart school Integrated Solution and other ICT Initiatives, 2006. Retrieved from: www.mscmalaysia.my/sites/default/files/ pdf/publications\_references/ImpactStudy.pdf.
- 173. Ibid.
- 174. Multimedia Development Corporation, 'The Smart School. Roadmap 2005-2020: An Educational Odyssey', Retrieved from: www.mscmalaysia.my/sites/default/ files/pdf/publications\_references/SMART\_SCHOOL\_ ROADMAP\_020506.pdf
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, 'The SchoolNet Programme', in *My Convergence*, 2(1), 2008, pp37-39.
- 176. Ibid.
- 177. Pemandu, *ETP Annual Report 2013*, p181. Retrieved from: etp.pemandu.gov.my/annualreport2013/upload/ENG/11\_ NKEA09\_ENG\_CCI.pdf
- 178. 1BestariNet website, http://1bestarinet.net/
- Pemandu, ETP Annual Report 2013, p188. Retrieved from: etp.pemandu.gov.my/annualreport2013/upload/ENG/11\_ NKEA09\_ENG\_CCI.pdf
- Chan, F.-M., ICT in Malaysian Schools: Policy and Strategies, Educational Technology Division, Ministry of Education. Retrieved from: unpan1.un.org/intradoc/ groups/public/documents/apcity/unpan011288.pdf.
- 181. Ibid.
- 182. Ibid.
- 183. ViaSat, 'Smart Digital Communications To Use LinkStar Broadband VSATs For Expansion of Internet Access in Malaysian Schools', www.viasat.com/news/smartdigital-communications-use-linkstar-broadband-vsatsexpansion-Internet-access-malaysian-s
- 184. Melissa N.L.Y.A., Fong, S.F. and Ong, S.L., 'An Evaluation of Instructional Videos in EDUWEBTV: Technical Qualities, Pedagogical Aspects, Engagement and Perceived Impact on Learning', in *Malaysian Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(2), 2010, pp101-113.
- Asia Pacific FutureGov, 'Making Malaysia's Schools Smarter', www.futuregov.asia/articles/2010/apr/30/ making-malaysia-schools-smarter/

#### USE OF INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY (ICT) BY ADOLESCENTS AND YOUTH

- International Telecommunication Union, Measuring the Information Society, 2013.
- 187. Ibid.
- Balraj, S., et al., 'Young people and new media social uses, social shaping and social consequences' in *Media Matters: Networked Media Content Research Summary*, vol. 1, 2013.
- 189. Ibid.
- DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013. https://digi.cybersafe.my/files/ article/DiGi\_Survey\_Booklet\_COMPLETE.pdf
- 191. Ibid.
- 192. Ibid.
- 193. Ibid.
- Social Bakers, 'Malaysia Facebook Statistics, 2013', www. socialbakers.com/facebook-statistics/malaysia
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, 'Captivated by Facebook: Selected portraits of young users in Malaysia', *My Convergence*, 7(1), 2013, pp4-12.
- 196. Ibid.
- 197. Ibid.
- 198. Ibid.
- 199. Malay Mail Online, 'Facebook loses sparkle as Malaysian youth embrace messenger apps', www. themalaymailonline.com/print/malaysia/facebook-losessparkle-as-malaysian-youth- embrace-messenger-apps (accessed 25 Feb 2014).
- Balraj, S., et al., 'Young people and new media social uses, social shaping and social consequences' in *Media Matters: Networked Media Content Research Summary*, vol. 1, 2013.
- 201. Ibid.
- 202. Lucintel, Growth Opportunities in Global Gaming Software Industry 2013 -2018: Trend, Forecast, and Opportunities Analysis, www.lucintel.com/reports/ telecommunication/growth\_opportunities\_in\_ global\_gaming\_software\_industry\_2013\_2018\_trend\_ forecast\_and\_opportunities\_opportunities\_analysis\_ november\_2013.aspx (accessed November 2013).
- ScandAsia, 'Angry Birds Malaysia Theme Park To Open In 2014', scandasia.com/angry-birds-malaysia-theme-parkto-open-in-2014/ (accessed 18 Dec 2013).
- Staksrud, E. and Livingstone, S., 'Children and Online Risk: Powerless Victims or Resourceful Participants?' in Information, communication and society, 12(3), 2009, pp364-387
- Digi Telecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013. https://digi.cybersafe.my/files/ article/DiGi\_Survey\_Booklet\_COMPLETE.pdf

- - 208. DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools: A National Survey Report 2014, 2014.
  - 209. Ibid., pg. 9.

207. Ibid.

- 210. Ibid., pp 10-11.
- 211. Ibid., pg. 19.
- 212. DigiTelecommunications, *CyberSAFE in Schools: A* National Survey Report 2014, 2014. pg. 32
- 213. Ibid., pg. 30
- Livingstone, S., Haddon, L., Görzig, A., & Ólafsson, K. (2011) EU Kids Online II final report <a href="http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/39351/">http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/39351/</a>>
- Microsoft, Online Bullying Among Youth 8-17 Years Old Malaysia, 2012. <www.microsoft.com/security/resources/ research.aspx#cyberbullying>
- 216. Ibid.
- 217. Ibid.
- 218. Ibid.
- DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013. https://digi.cybersafe.my/files/article/DiGi\_ Survey\_Booklet\_COMPLETE.pdf
- 220. Ibid.
- 221. DigiTelecommunications, *CyberSAFE in Schools: A* National Survey Report 2014, 2014. pg. 26
- 222. Ibid., pg 29.
- 223. Sahel, D., et al, Excessive Internet Use among European Children, EU Kids Online, London School of Economics and Political Science, London, UK, 2012, <www.lse.ac.uk/ media@lse/research/EUKidsOnline/EU%20Kids%20III/ Reports/ExcessiveUse.pdf>.
- 224. Ibid.
- 225. Ibid.
- 226. Sahel, D., et al, Excessive Internet Use among European Children, EU Kids Online, London School of Economics and Political Science, London, UK, 2012, <www.lse.ac.uk/ media@lse/research/EUKidsOnline/EU%20Kids%20III/ Reports/ExcessiveUse.pdf>.
- 227. Ibid.
- Balraj, S., et al., 'Young people and new media social uses, social shaping and social consequences' in *Media Matters: Networked Media Content Research Summary*, vol. 1, 2013.
- DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013. https://digi.cybersafe.my/files/article/DiGi\_ Survey\_Booklet\_COMPLETE.pdf
- Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, Captivated by Facebook: Selected Portraits of Young Users in Malaysia, My Convergence Vol. 7. No. 1., 2013, pp. 4-12.

206. Ibid.

Exploring the Digital Landscape in Malaysia

- Based on the percentage of PCs that experienced a malware attack, whether successful or failed, over a three month period.
- Balraj, S., et al., 'Young people and new media social uses, social shaping and social consequences' in *Media Matters: Networked Media Content Research Summary*, vol. 1, 2013.

233. Ibid.

- 234. Ibid.
- 235. DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013. https://digi.cybersafe.my/files/ article/DiGi\_Survey\_Booklet\_COMPLETE.pdf
- 236. Ibid.
- 237. Ibid.
- 238. Penal Code. Retrieved from: www.agc.gov.my/Akta/ Vol.%2012/Act%20574.pdf

239. Ibid.

- Runjit Singh, 'Non-Custodial Sentencing Options in Malaysia', Attorney-General's Chambers, The 127th International Training Course, 17 May-25 June 2004. Retrieved from: www.unicef.org/tdad/ malaysiaalternatives.pdf.
- Owen, S., 'Corporal Punishment of Children in Malaysia: Briefing for the Universal Periodic Review', 17th session, Global Initiative to End All Corporal Punishment of Children, 2013, uprdoc.ohchr.org/uprweb/ (accessed 27 Dec 2013).
- 242. Domestic Violence Act 1994. Retrieved from: www. wcwonline.org/pdf/lawcompilation/malaysia\_DVact1994. pdf
- United NationsTreaty Collection, treaties. un.org/Pages/ViewDetails.aspx?mtdsg\_no=IV-11c&chapter=4&lang=en#EndDec.
- 244. Anti-Trafficking in Persons Act 2007. Retrieved from: www.hsph.harvard.edu/population/trafficking/malaysia. traf.07.pdf
- 245. Child Act 2001. Retrieved from: www.agc.gov.my/Akta/ Vol.%2013/Act%20611.pdf
- 246. Ministry of Home Affairs, 'Publication Guidelines', www. moha.gov.my/index.php/en/pq-maklumat-perkhidmatan
- 247. Child Rights Coalition Malaysia, Report for the Universal Periodic Review. Retrieved from: www.upr-info.org/ sites/default/files/document/malaysia/session\_17\_-\_ october\_2013/js6\_upr17\_mys\_e.pdf.
- 248. 'Mechanism to protect children from cyber crimes: Rohani', theSun, www.thesundaily.my/news/777116 (accessed 24 June 2014).
- Family Online Safety Institute, 'Malaysia Online Safety overview', www.fosigrid.org/asia/malaysia#overview (accessed 24 June 2014).
- DigiTelecommunications, CyberSAFE in Schools National Survey 2013. https://digi.cybersafe.my/files/ article/DiGi\_Survey\_Booklet\_COMPLETE.pdf

252. Balraj, S., et al., 'Young people and new media - social uses, social shaping and social consequences' in *Media Matters: Networked Media Content Research Summary*, vol. 1, 2013.

253. Ibid.

- 254. Microsoft, 'Online Bullying Among Youth 8-17 Years Old Malaysia, 2012', www.microsoft.com/security/resources/ research.aspx#cyberbullying
- 255. Ibid.
- 256. Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission 'Klik dengan bijak: Panduan Keselamatan Melayari internet'. Retrieved from: www.skmm.gov.my/ skmmgovmy/media/General/pdf/Panduan\_Layari\_ Internet.pdf.
- 257. Ibid.
- 258. Zulkarnain M.Y., 'Key Legal, Regulatory and Policy Issues', Malaysian Communication and Multimedia Commission, ITU-ASEAN Forum on Promoting Effective and Secure Social Media, 18-19 July 2012. Retrieved from: www.itu.int/ITU-D/asp/CMS/Events/2012/ socialmedia/S4\_Zulkarnaini\_Mohd\_Yasin.pdf.
- 259. National Service Training Department, Ministry of Defence Malaysia, Press Release, 'Pelaksanaan penambahbaikan modul PLKN dengan memperkenalkan modul 'Klik Bijak@plkn' dalam program latihan khidmat negara', 23 August 2013, www.khidmatnegara.gov.my/ en/pelaksanaan-penambahbaikan-modul-plkn-denganmemperkenalkan-modul-klik-bijakplkn-dalam-programlatihan-khidmat-negara/
- CyberSecurity Malaysia, 'CyberSafe', www.cybersafe.my (accessed 19 March 2014).
- 261. Ibid.

#### **OBSERVATIONS**

- 262. R.AGE Against Bullying website: rageagainstbullying. com/my.
- 263. Bulger, M., and Livingstone, S., A Global Agenda for Children's Rights in the Digital Age: Recommendations for developing UNICEF's research strategy. Innocenti Publications: Florence, 2013. Retrieved from: www. unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/lse%20olol%20final3.pdf.

251. Ibid.



www.unicef.org/malaysia



United Nations Children's Fund Malaysia Country Office Wisma UN, Block C, Level 2 Kompleks Pejabat Damansara Jalan Dungun, Damansara Heights 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

Tel: (+6.03) 2095 9154 Fax: (+6.03) 2093 0582 Email: kualalumpur@unicef.org



www.facebook.com/unicef.malaysia

You Tube www.youtube.com/UNICEFMalaysia

ISBN 978-967-12284-4-9

